
 

 
 
 

!ƴƴǳŀƭ wŜǇƻǊǘ нлмп 
9²h{ DǊƻǳǇ 
  



 

 
2 

E
W

O
S

 G
R

O
U

P
 / 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 R
E

P
O

R
T

 2
0
1
4

 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Presentation of the Group .............................................................................................................................. 3 

Corporate Governance Report ....................................................................................................................... 4 

Board of Directorsô Report ............................................................................................................................. 5 

Consolidated Financial Statements ............................................................................................................. 15 
Consolidated statement of income ............................................................................................................... 15 
Consolidated statement of other comprehensive income ............................................................................ 16 
Consolidated statement of financial position ............................................................................................... 17 
Consolidated statement of cash flow ........................................................................................................... 18 
Consolidated statement of changes in equity .............................................................................................. 19 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ....................................................................................... 20 

Parent Company Financial Statements ....................................................................................................... 50 
Statement of income .................................................................................................................................... 50 
Statement of other comprehensive income ................................................................................................. 50 
Statement of financial position ..................................................................................................................... 51 
Statement of cash flow ................................................................................................................................. 52 
Statement of changes in equity .................................................................................................................... 53 

Notes to the Parent Company financial statements .................................................................................. 54 

Responsibility statement .............................................................................................................................. 59 

Auditorôs Report 2014 ................................................................................................................................... 60 
 

  



 

 
3 

E
W

O
S

 G
R

O
U

P
 / 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 R
E

P
O

R
T

 2
0
1
4

 

 

PRESENTATION OF THE GROUP 

EWOS is a leading supplier of feed and nutrition for the international aquaculture industry. EWOS has 
produced fish feed for decades and today the Group operates in all four of the world's major salmon farming 
regions: Norway, Chile, Canada and Scotland. In addition, EWOS has entered the feed market for other 
species through our operation in Vietnam. EWOS continuously invests in research and development in order 
to maintain the innovation leadership in its field.  

On June 24, 2013, Albain Holdco Norway AS, EWOS Group AS (earlier Albain Midco Norway AS) and 
EWOS Holding AS (earlier Albain Bidco Norway AS), were incorporated as acquisition vehicles by funds 
advised by Altor Fund III GP Limited ("Altor") and Bain Capital Europe, LLP ("Bain") for purposes of the 
purchase of the fish feed segment of Cermaq ASA (the EWOS Business), thereof: 

i) the 100% shareholding in EWOS AS 
ii) the 100% shareholding in Statkorn Aqua AS 
iii) the 100% shareholding in EWOS Innovation AS 
iv) the 100% shareholding in Norsk Bioakva AS 
v) the 100% shareholding in EWOS Chile 

Alimentos Ltda 

vi) the 100% shareholding in EWOS Ltd (UK) 
vii) the 100% shareholding in EWOS Canada Ltd 
viii) the 100% shareholding in EWOS USA Inc. 
ix) the 100% shareholding in Dales Voe Salmon Ltd 
x) the 97.7% shareholding in EWOS Vietnam JSC 

 
On October 31, 2013 (the "Acquisition date"), EWOS Holding AS (Bidco), which is indirectly owned by Albain 
Holdco Norway AS (Holdco), closed the purchase of the EWOS Business (the “Acquisition”). The total 
consideration paid to Cermaq ASA was NOK 6.2 billion. The Acquisition was financed by a contribution from 
funds advised by Altor and Bain Capital of NOK 2,075 million, an issuance of Senior Subordinated Notes in 
the amount of NOK 1,040 million, EUR Senior Secured Notes in the amount of EUR 225 million and NOK 
Senior Secured Notes in the amount of NOK 1,810 million. In addition, EWOS Holding AS entered into a 
Revolving Credit Facility of NOK 600 million with Danske bank, Rabobank International and Swedbank. The 
following illustrates the Group structure at Holdco level:  

 

 
 
These financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2014 includes audited financial information on 
a consolidated basis at the EWOS Group AS (“Parent”) level for the period January 1 to December 31, 2014 
and for the period from the incorporation on June 24, 2013, to December 31, 2013. The EWOS Business has 
been consolidated from the Acquisition date. 

On October 22, 2014 Holdco, through a directly owned subsidiary other than the Parent, completed the 
acquisition of the Chilean fish farming company Nova Austral. As the acquisition is made outside of the listed 
bond group, Nova Austral’s operations will not be consolidated in the financial reporting of either EWOS 
Group or EWOS Holding, the two companies with listed bonds on either the Oslo Stock Exchange or the 
Irish Stock Exchange. For further information about this acquisition see note 6 to the Financial Statements.  
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 

As the global innovator in aqua feed, EWOS's objective is to create value for its owners and other 
stakeholders through sustainable aquaculture, securing seafood for generations.  

The Board of Directors has prepared this corporate governance statement for 2014 in accordance with the 
Bond Rules. The group is in compliance with the continuing obligations. 
 

Risk management and internal control 
Deviation: None  

The Board ensures that the company has good internal control and suitable systems for risk management 
appropriate to the scope and the nature of the company’s activities, including the company’s core values and 
ethical and social responsibility guidelines. As a part of the supervision process, the Board makes a quarterly 
review of the development in the company’s most important risk areas and the changes in the established 
framework for risk management and internal control.  

The Group’s management focuses on establishing good internal control routines over financial reporting. The 
internal control routines are based on an organisation matrix that defines roles and responsibilities for the 
individual management levels as well as guidelines as to how to ensure good internal control, e.g. through 
satisfactory separation of duties. The company performs its business based on budgets and forecasts and 
financial and operational key performance indicators. 

The Group’s finance policy is to safeguard management of the most material financial risks that the company 
is facing, and this is followed up by the finance department in EWOS. Principles have also been prepared for 
currency and interest hedging. The Group has also established routines and control procedures in 
connection with determining investment limits, quarterly estimates and monthly financial reporting from 
operational units, which are examined and analysed by the financial team. Accounting issues are analysed 
on an on-going basis, and the auditor is consulted when necessary.  
 

Appointment and replacement of members of the Board of Directors  
Deviation: None 

The parent company has embodied in its Articles of Association regulations and procedures for appointment 
and replacement of directors. 

The principles and practice of appointment and replacement of board members are made on a General 
Meeting in accordance with the Norwegian Companies Act. The Board members are nominated and elected 
based on competence. The Board of Directors consist of eight members. The elections have been carried 
out in accordance the Norwegian Companies Act chapter 6. 
 

Buy back or issue own shares or equity certificates  
Deviation: None 

The Articles of Association of the parent company do not contain any provision regarding buy back or 
issuance of shares. Further, the board of directors has not been granted any proxy to buy back or issue new 
shares.  
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BOARD OF DIRECTORSô REPORT 

 
EWOS Group  
 
EWOS (EWOS Group AS and its subsidiaries, hereinafter "EWOS" or the "Group") is a leading and trusted 
supplier of food and nutrition for the aquaculture industry. We produce aquaculture feed, in the form of 
extruded pellets, for salmonids, which include Atlantic salmon, Coho salmon, Rainbow trout and Chinook 
salmon. Approximately 95% of the feed volume we produce consists of salmonid feed, with the rest of the 
feed targeting other marine species, such as yellowfin tuna, as well as freshwater species, such as 
snakehead, tilapia and pangasius. We offer an extensive range of salmonid feed, from “standard feed,” 
which addresses the needs of salmonids at each stage of their life cycle, to “functional feed,” which supports 
the growth and health of salmonids. 

We operate in Norway, Chile, Scotland, Canada and Vietnam. With the exception of Vietnam, these are the 
major salmonid farming markets, which together represent more than 90% of the global salmonid farming 
market. In 2014, EWOS had the leading salmonid feed market positions in Chile and Scotland, with market 
shares of approximately 29% and 39%, based on estimated sales volume. In the Norwegian and Canadian 
salmonid markets EWOS had market shares of 35% and 28%, also based on estimated sales volume. Our 
salmonid feed production plants are located close to our customers, which is important in order to lower 
transportation costs and shorten delivery times. Proximity to our customers has allowed us to develop close 
working relationships with them, and to cooperate in areas ranging from logistics to feed performance. Our 
Vietnamese operations mainly supply feed for the tilapia, snakehead and pangasius feed market in South 
East Asia. 

Research and Development (R&D) is a key factor for value creation. The R&D operation, which is run 
through EWOS Innovation, has research units in Dirdal (Rogaland, Norway) and Colaco (Region Los Lagos 
in Chile) as well as a small research facility in the Mekong Delta in Vietnam. The company is one of the 
world’s leading private R&D companies in the field of fish feed and farming. In 2015 the R&D operation will 
be expanded as the EWOS Fish Health Centre is being built in Colaco.  

EWOS Group AS headquarters is in Bergen, Norway, located at Tollbodallmenningen 1B, 5004 Bergen, 
Norway. 
 

Diversity  
 
The Group has an inclusive working environment. Discrimination on the basis of ethnic background, 
nationality, language, gender, sexual identity or religious faith shall not occur. Companies in the Group 
promote equal opportunities and fair treatment of all employees. 

The proportion of female employees in the Group was 18% at December 31, 2014, same as prior year. 
There is a diversity of nationalities both in members of the group management and amongst management 
across the Group. In general women counted for 17% amongst management across the Group (including all 
managers who report to a managing director in the operating companies) as of December 31, 2014 
compared to 23% as of December 31, 2013.  

Overview of gender ï total employees  

 

 

As of December 31 2014 2013

Employees - Total 1,096                 1,039                 

Employees - Female 195                   186                   

Employees - Male 901                   853                   

Percentage - Female 18 % 18 %

Percentage - Male 82 % 82 %



 

 
6 

E
W

O
S

 G
R

O
U

P
 / 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 R
E

P
O

R
T

 2
0
1
4

 

 

Overview of gender - management group 

 

  

The board of directors comprises eight members who are all male.  

The board receives regular reporting of the Group’s sustainability indicators, including indicators related to 
discrimination, equal rights and diversity. In 2014, no violations were reported. No specific actions are 
planned or carried out to promote anti-discrimination, accessibility or equal rights in 2015. 
 

Financial performance of the Group  
 

Income statement 

Operating revenues were NOK 11,598.5 million, which is positively impacted of sales volume growth and 
currency translation effects from a decline in the Norwegian Krone versus US Dollars and British Pounds. 
Cost of materials was NOK 9,327.0 million, and comprises raw material such as fish oil, fish meal and soy. 
Raw material costs were higher than anticipated in 2014 due to currency translation effects. They were also 
impacted by challenges in raw material inputs, physical pellet quality and control in our Norwegian 
operations. Our gross margin, defined as the ratio between operating revenues and cost of raw materials, 
was 19.5%. Personnel expenses were NOK 443.9 million and depreciation and amortisation were NOK 
337.0 million. Other operating expenses were NOK 1,178.2 million of which customer freight expenses and 
maintenance costs were NOK 847.7 million or 72.0% of other operating expenses. Professional fees of NOK 
155.4 million include the cost of establishing permanent corporate functions and an initial corporate strategy 
review.  

Other income includes a gain of NOK 92.4 million in regards to the agreement with Cermaq to settle the 
contingent considerations with a NOK 100 million payment to Cermaq in two equal instalments due on 
December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2017. Other expenses of NOK 80.8 million include a loss provision of 
NOK 48.5 million (USD 7.7 million at average FX rate) related to the Acuinova bankruptcy, ref below.  
 
Operating result was a profit of NOK 324.0 million, positively affected by high sales volumes and positive 
impact from currency translation effects from the stronger US Dollar and British Pound versus the Norwegian 
Kroner. In addition, the net effect of NOK 43.9 million from the gain related to the deferred consideration to 
Cermaq and the loss related to the Acuinova bankruptcy contributed positively to the result.  

Net financial expenses were NOK 629.1 million of which NOK 403.5 million is related to interest expenses on 
financial liabilities measured at amortised cost and NOK 197.7 million is related to net foreign exchange 
losses. Loss before taxes was NOK 304.9 million, and we recorded an income tax income of NOK 78.4 
million. The effective tax rate was 25.7%. Net loss for the period was NOK 226.5 million.  

Cash flows 

Net cash flow from operational activities was NOK 347.6 million. This amount was negatively impacted by 
lower profitability in Norway in the third quarter and limited cash flow related to Nova Austral and Acuinova 
feed receivables. Net cash flow from investment activities showed an outflow of NOK 181.9 million, of which 
NOK 153.6 million is related to purchase of property, plant and equipment. Net cash flow from financing 
activities showed an outflow of NOK 568.6 million of which NOK 395.4 is related to interest payments on the 
Senior Notes and loan from Albain Holdco Norway AS (which is the owner of EWOS Group AS) and NOK 
169.2 is related to repayment of equity to Albain Holdco Norway AS.  

Financial position  

As at December 31, 2014, the Group‘s total non-current assets was NOK 5,817.4 million, of which goodwill 
was NOK 2,408.2 million (including currency effect of NOK 31.1 million) and property, plant and equipment 
was NOK 2,184.9 million. As at December 31, 2014, interest bearing debt net of cash and cash equivalents 

As of December 31 2014 2013

Total employees - Management group 52                     47                     

Management Group - Female 9                       11                     

Management Group - Male 43                     36                     

Percentage - Female  17 % 23 %

Percentage - Male 83 % 77 %
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was NOK 4,226.5 million. Interest bearing non-current liabilities, which are mainly related to the Senior 
Notes, were NOK 4,644.2 million. The Group also had a credit facility of NOK 600.0 million which was 
undrawn and available upon request. Total current assets were NOK 3,875.2 million of which trade and other 
receivables was NOK 1,984.3 million, inventories was NOK 1,293.8 million and cash and cash equivalents 
was NOK 417.7 million. Total current liabilities were NOK 2,335.1 million with the largest item being trade 
and other payables of NOK 1,986.3 million. Total assets were NOK 9,692.6 million and total equity was NOK 
2,236.8 million as of December 31, 2014. The equity ratio was 23.1%. 
 

Financial performance of EWOS Group AS (the parent company)  
 
EWOS Group AS has no operational activities and no employees, and is acting as holding company for the 
Group. Net loss for the year was NOK 89.4 million and total equity was NOK 1,753.2 million as of December 
31, 2014. Total assets were NOK 2,874.2 million as of December 31, 2014, of which investments in EWOS 
Holding AS amounted to NOK 2,835.5 million. Cash and cash equivalents was NOK 0.1 million as of 
December 31, 2014. Total liabilities of NOK 1,121.0 million as of December 31, 2014 consisted of the Senior 
Subordinated Notes. Net cash inflow from investing activities was NOK 169.2 million in 2014 and relates to 
distribution of equity from the subsidiary EWOS Holding AS. Net cash outflow from financing activities of 
NOK 166.2 million relates to repayment of equity to Albain Holdco Norway AS of 169.2, payment of interest 
of NOK 115.1 million offset by NOK 118.4 million from proceeds from borrowing.  
 

Correction of 2013 financial statements 
 
On September 11, 2013, prior to the closing of the acquisition of the EWOS Business on October 31, 2013, 
the Group entered into deal contingent currency forward contracts with Albain Finco S.À R.L. The currency 
forward contracts where closed on October 31, 2013 with a gain of NOK 173.6 million, but not settled by 
cash, and the Group earned a receivable on Albain Finco S.À R.L. These contracts were put in place to 
hedge NOK-EUR currency fluctuations between signing and closing of the transaction, as is customary for 
Euro denominated funds entering into NOK transactions. The gain and the receivable were not recognised in 
the 2013 financial statements. However, this has now been corrected by restating the prior period by 
recognising the gain and the receivable including accrued interest. See note 4 to the consolidated financial 
statements for further details. 

The Board does not believe that this correction has any materially adverse impact on the noteholders.  
 

 
Sustainability   
 
EWOS has through innovation and continuous improvement increased the sustainability of our and our 
customers' operations. This has especially been the case in relation to marine raw material sustainability. 
Our dedicated R&D operations have reduced our dependency on fish meal and fish oil, leading to a 
decrease in the marine feed inclusion at a global level from 59% in 2002 to 31.1% in 2014. This considerable 
reduction in the use of marine raw materials has enabled a significant growth in salmon aquaculture volumes 
over the past decade.  

As a large global purchaser of raw materials EWOS is conscious about our ecological footprint. Sustainable 
aquaculture feed depends upon responsible sourcing. To practice this, we monitor and audit our suppliers. In 
2014 we performed 48 supplier audits. This is a stable level compared to 52 audits in 2013. A Code of 
Conduct for Suppliers clarifies the ethical standards we expect of our suppliers. It forms a key part of our 
supplier diligence, supporting the ten principles of the United Nations Global Compact and setting out a 
number of areas where EWOS expects more.  

Through our sustainability reporting we strive to be transparent in our use of raw materials and report a 
number of sustainability indicators. Among these is the amount of registered community complaints in 
relation to our business.  
 
EWOS submits a comprehensive sustainability report in accordance with the standards of the Global 
Reporting Initiative (GRI) version 3.0 level B. The GRI report is available at http://www.reporting.ewos.com. 
Below follows an extract of the sustainability report.     

http://www.reporting.ewos.com/
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Organisation, health, safety and environment   

Safety for all employees is paramount for EWOS. A safe workplace is a necessity, and we also strive to be a 
rewarding employer, where we encourage creativity and efficiency. EWOS promotes equal opportunities and 
equality towards its employees. EWOS has implemented multiple management standards to ensure quality 
and safety throughout the value chain. Operating companies in Norway, Chile, UK, Vietnam and Canada and 
EWOS Innovation are certified according to Occupational Health & Safety Management Standard OHSAS 
18001.  

The Group had 1,096 employees at the end of 2014, an increase from 1,039 as of December 31, 2013. 
Group lost time injury rate was 4 in 2014, down from 9 in 2013. The injury frequency rate was 8 in 2014, 
down from 11 in 2013. The absence rate for employees was 2.2% in 2014, a decrease from 2.7% in 2013. 
There were no fatalities among our employees in 2014.  

Environment 

EWOS's value chain depends on sustainable operations where resources are not over exploited. EWOS has 
a long term perspective on fish feed and seek to implement the best management practice and solutions to 
address the environmental aspects in a responsible manner. 

Policy 

EWOS's approach to the environment, in which the Group operates and upon which it depend, is set out in 
the EWOS Sustainability Principles. EWOS's policy is to establish a systematic management of operational 
risk through management systems which are certified according to ISO standards or equivalent. All the 
operating companies are certified to an Environmental Management System based upon the ISO 14001 
standard. The updated status with regard to attainment of this is presented in the EWOS sustainability report 
2014. All the operating companies also certified to Global Gap standards. 

Aspects 

EWOS include the following material environmental aspects in its sustainability reporting: Biodiversity; 
Emissions, Effluents and waste; Energy; Compliance with environmental regulations and Product and 
Services. Additional material aspects from the food processing sector supplement are; Protecting natural 
resources and GMOs. 

Biodiversity: EWOS recognises the potential for fish farming operations to impact biodiversity, either directly 
or indirectly. However, in 2014, EWOS has not identified any specific significant impacts of its activities or its 
products on biodiversity in the areas where the Group are operating. However, EWOS recognises that the 
production of the raw materials used in the diets may potentially impact biodiversity negatively and has thus 
procedures in place to mitigate such risks. 

Emission: EWOS acknowledges the need for reducing global Green House Gas (GHG) emissions and has 
been measuring ecological footprint (EF) and carbon footprint on EWOS feeds using an EWOS model 
developed by external experts in the field. The EWOS EF model output shows that the choice of raw 
materials has a significant impact on the CO2e/tonne feed produced whereas the contribution from the feed 
production and distribution is modest. 
 
Effluents and waste: All EWOS operations are expected to comply with local and national environmental 
regulations related to effluents and waste handling. Waste from EWOS's operations is reused or recycled 
when possible. EWOS is transporting feed in bulk carriers when possible which reduces the packaging 
material use. 
 
Energy: Goals for the management of energy use per unit of production are set locally by each operating 
company.  All operating companies in the Group have material initiatives in place to improve energy usage 
per unit of production. 
 
Compliance: EWOS's target is to at all times comply with existing laws and regulations related to 
environmental regulations. 
 
Products and services: EWOS has defined a model for ecological footprint for feed, which enables the Group 
to integrate this information in its planning. All companies set annual objectives for environmental 
improvements based on the local condition and situation. Such projects may include emissions, energy use, 
transport, water usage, raw material optimisation etc. 
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Protecting natural resources: Like all industry activities, aquaculture has an ecological footprint. The footprint 
must remain within limits that are ecologically acceptable. After on-growing sites have completed a cycle, 
they will undergo a fallowing period in order to ensure that temporary changes are reversed and safeguard 
the basis for satisfactory fish health.  
 
Genetically Modified Organisms (GMA): GMO-ingredients in feed are used in Canada and Chile according to 
local legislation. In EU/EEA GMO-ingredients are not used in EWOS's fish feed in line with customer or 
consumer preferences. 
 
Animal husbandry and fish health: EWOS recognises the importance of fish health to the aquaculture 
industry and is thus carrying out research within fish health and fish welfare. 
 
Transportation: EWOS is continuously seeking to improve the efficiency of in- and out-bound logistics in 
order to minimise environmental impact. 
 
All food production has a footprint. Fish farming has a small footprint compared to other animal production. 
EWOS welcomes development of regulatory frameworks ensuring sound practice and industry growth 
beneficial to society and global food production. EWOS operates in countries with ample water supply and 
does not have organisation-wide environmental goals related to water usage. Feed production needs 0.3-0.9 
litres of water per kg feed produced. As water use is the most energy intensive part of the production, 
EWOS's research is continuously seeking reduction in water usage. 
 

Labour practices and decent work 

EWOS is a large employer providing job opportunities often in non-urban areas. EWOS's approach is to be a 
responsible employer and contractor of workforce in the regions in which the Group operates. EWOS 
respects the four fundamental principles and associated rights that are considered fundamental to social 
justice by the International Labour Organisation (ILO) and included in Global Compact.  

Policy 

EWOS has defined policies and standards that apply for the entire group, including: ethical and corporate 
responsibility guidelines; whistle blowing guidelines; and sustainability principles directly related to labour 
practices and decent work. EWOS's policy is to establish a systematic management of operational risk 
through management systems which are certified according to ISO standards or equivalent, as OHS 
Management System certified to the OHSAS 18001 standard for all the operating companies.  

Aspects 

EWOS includes the following material aspects in its reporting on labour practices and decent work: 
Occupational health & safety; Employment; Labour/Management relations; and Training and education; 

Occupational health and safety: EWOS shall ensure high level of occupational safety for its employees. The 
Group aims to have all operating companies certified according to the OHSAS 18001 standard for 
occupational health and safety. 
 
Employment, training and education: Employees shall receive systematic training. EWOS shall facilitate 
personal and professional development of each employee. 
 
Labour/management relations: EWOS employees are free to join any trade union. The companies in the 
group shall facilitate good relations between the management and the employees and unions. 
 
EWOS expects its suppliers to have responsible standards, and will work with its suppliers to seek 
improvements. EWOS has developed a Supplier Policy and Code of Conduct for its suppliers and a supplier 
self-assessment form that is followed up in our Supplier Audit Program set annually. EWOS wishes to have 
an inclusive working environment. Discrimination based on ethnic background, nationality, language, gender, 
sexual orientation or religious belief is not tolerated. The companies in the group shall promote equal 
opportunities and fair treatment of all employees. 
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Society 

The Group contributes to employment, often in non-urban areas. EWOS's approach is to be a reliable 
partner in the local communities as well as in the larger society. 

Policy 

EWOS's policies and standards apply for the entire group, including: ethical and corporate responsibility 
guidelines and sustainability principles directly related to society and local communities stating that EWOS 
trains key employees to avoid corruption in its business and EWOS takes steps to minimise any problems 
related to discharge from its feed plants, fish farms and processing plants. 

Aspects 

EWOS includes the following material social aspects in its reporting: Compliance, Community and 
Corruption. 

Compliance: EWOS's target is to at all times comply with existing laws and regulations related to social 
regulations. EWOS has a pre-approval process for suppliers including a self-assessment form addressing 
the material aspects of human rights. Human right issues are also included in EWOS supplier policy and 
code of conduct for suppliers. 
 
Community: EWOS will contribute to local activity and employment and will be a reliable partner for the local 
communities in which the Group operates. Any material complaint related to the Group’s operations is taken 
seriously and receive management attention. 
 
Corruption: EWOS's ethical and social responsibility guidelines prohibit any form of corruption. Awareness 
training on corruption is given to all management teams.  
 
The feed industry is subject to attention by many stakeholders expressing divergent views on a multitude of 
issues. EWOS believes that fact and knowledge must be the basis for the Group’s decisions and its 
operations. EWOS invests in heavily in the research company, EWOS Innovation and work with external 
experts to establish a sound basis for decision making. 
 

Human rights 

EWOS respects the four fundamental principles and associated rights that are considered fundamental to 
social justice by the International Labour Organisation (ILO). Furthermore EWOS also adheres to the 
OECD's Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises. 

Policy 

EWOS has defined policies and standards that apply for the entire group, including: ethical and corporate 
responsibility guidelines, whistle blowing guidelines and sustainability principles directly related to social 
aspects. EWOS's ethical and corporate responsibility guidelines state equal work opportunities, just 
treatment and a working environment free of discrimination. 

Aspects 

EWOS includes the following material human rights aspects in its reporting: Abolition of child labour as 
securing Indigenous People’s rights. 

Abolition of child labour: EWOS will not accept child labour or young workers exposure to hazardous work in 
any of the regions in which the Group operates or in its business partners. In relation to the establishment of 
new operations in Vietnam, the risk of child labour has been evaluated as part of the risk analysis. Workers 
ID cards are checked against birth date. Zero-tolerance for child labour has been communicated to suppliers 
at risk. 
 
Indigenous rights: EWOS has a clear goal of no violation of indigenous rights. 
 
EWOS has a pre-approval process for suppliers including a self-assessment form addressing the material 
aspects of human rights. Human right issues are also included in EWOS supplier policy and code of conduct 
for suppliers. The Group wide objective is clearly stated as no incidents of discrimination related to race, 
colour, sex, religion, political opinion, national extraction, or social origin. EWOS respects and adheres to the 
freedom of association and collective bargain. EWOS will not accept forced and compulsory labour in any of 
its operations or in those of its business partners. 
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Product Responsibility 

As a player in the food industry value chain, EWOS is subjected to strict laws and regulations in the 
countries of operation. Due to the complexities related to product responsibility, a set of management tools 
have been implemented. 

Policy 

EWOS relies on the ISO 22000 food safety management standard as a tool to develop methods and 
procedures in order to achieve the goals the Group sets. All operating companies in the group are either 
certified ISO 22000 or working towards certification. The EWOS feed operations also rely upon various 
industry standards for good practice, such as the Universal Feed Assurance Scheme in UK and the Global 
GAP Compound Feed Manufacturing (CFM) Standard. 

Aspects 

The following material aspects are included in EWOS's reporting on product responsibility: Food Safety and 
Compliance. Additional material aspect included in the reporting are; minimising toxicity and securing 
traceability. 

Food Safety: All operating companies are to be certified according to ISO 22000 where hazard analysis and 
critical control points (HAACP) is an integral part.  
 
Compliance: EWOS's target is to at all times comply with existing laws and regulations related to product and 
services. 
 
Toxicity: Food and feed safety has the highest priority. Whereas the food authorities are defining regulations 
to ensure food and feed safety, EWOS's operating companies have incorporated management systems to 
ensure that all regulations are adhered to. 
 
Traceability: EWOS companies have modern traceability systems in place to cover first tier traceability.  For 
feed raw materials to feed EWOS require its suppliers to have traceability systems in place. 
 
For further details see the sustainability report on http://www.reporting.ewos.com.  
 

Risk and risk management  
 
The Group is exposed to various risks of an operational and financial nature. The Board of Directors has 
established a framework for risk management and value creation to ensure that the Group has good internal 
controls and appropriate systems for risk management adapted to the nature of and the risks related to its 
operations and finance.  

The Board reviews on a regular basis the development of the risk factors assumed to have the largest 
potential financial impact and key measures to manage these risks. 

Operational risks 

The Group has decided that operational risks should be governed and controlled by way of management 
systems certified according to ISO standards or equivalent standards. The Group has defined key areas to 
be quality (ISO 9001), environment (ISO 14001), food safety (ISO 22000) and health, environment and 
safety (HES) (OHSAS 18001). The Group has made good progress the last year and all production 
companies, with the exception of EWOS Vietnam, are now certified for all four standards. EWOS Vietnam 
was last year certified on quality (ISO 9001) and has established a progress schedule to put in place the 
remaining standards. 

Financial risk  

The main objective of the Group's financial risk management activities is to ensure the ongoing liquidity of 
the Group, defined as being at all times in a position to meet liabilities as they fall due. This also includes 
being able to meet financial covenants on the Group debt under normal circumstances.  

Financial risk management is carried out by the Group treasury under financial risk management policies 
approved by the Board of Directors. Risk management policies are procedures that are reviewed regularly to 
reflect changes in market conditions and changes in the Group activities.  

http://www.reporting.ewos.com/
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Currency risk  

Due to the international nature of our operations, we are exposed to risks related to the fluctuation of 
exchange rates, mainly due to the fact that fish feed is being sold almost exclusively to customers in their 
local currency while most of raw materials are sourced in the international commodities markets.   

In order to mitigate such transactional exposure, we have included price adjustment clauses in our feed 
supply contracts which lock in foreign exchange rates (or "FX rates") ahead of each quarter, and we then 
enter into short-term hedges for that quarter to best match the FX rates on expected raw material purchases 
that quarter to the achieved FX rates for that quarter in the customer contracts.  

We are also hedging our exposures with a number of banks. The purpose of these contracts is to hedge the 
currency risk arising from raw material purchases mainly denominated in US Dollars and Euro, thus enabling 
us to achieve predictability for our cost base in Norwegian Kroner upon entering purchase agreements with 
our aquaculture feed customers ahead of each quarter. 

Interest rate risk 

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk fluctuation, mainly due to the Senior Notes issued in connection 
with the Acquisition, which bear interest rates including a variable element based on NIBOR. According to 
the Group’s finance policy, the main objective of interest rate management is to minimise the risk of breach 
of debt covenants and avoid situations of financial distress that might jeopardise operational and strategic 
flexibility. To that extent, we have entered into certain cap and swap agreements. 

Liquidity risk 

In addition to the management of currency and interest rate risks, liquidity management represents a key 
element of our financial management. Liquidity risk arises from our potential inability to meet our financial 
obligations towards our suppliers and financing providers. The goal of liquidity management is to secure the 
ability of the Group to service its commitments and to make payments when required. Our liquidity situation 
is closely monitored and rolling forecasts of cash flows and cash holdings are prepared regularly. 

Credit risk 

The Board believes that the credit risk has been diversified since the Group’s customers are located in 
different geographic areas.  

As part of our risk management our operating companies purchase credit insurance where appropriate, and 
in some cases demand parent company guarantees or other security interests such as pledges on biological 
assets, thus reducing the actual risk on outstanding receivables. To further mitigate our credit risk, our 
operating companies may sell part of their receivables on a non-recourse basis.  

The Group has been involved in a debt collection case against two major customers in Chile, Acuinova and 
Nova Austral S.A. In connection with Nova Austral S.A. being acquired by an Albain Holdco Norway affiliate 
in 2014, overdue receivables of USD 35.9 million was converted to a long term subordinated loan which is 
due in full with accumulated interest on October 22, 2019. The Group’s total exposure on Nova Austral as of 
December 31, 2014 was NOK 473.3 million in a combination of the subordinated loan, short term bridge loan 
and new feed receivables. The exposure is reduced in early 2015 as USD 14.0 million has been paid from 
Nova Austral to fully settle the bridge loan and pay down feed receivables. For further information see note 
29.   
 
On September 15, 2014 Marine Harvest announced the purchase of the Acuinova assets from the 
bankruptcy trustee and EWOS will in the short term continue to provide feed to this operation. EWOS’s 
exposure in regards to overdue feed receivables has been significantly reduced after receiving cash 
settlement for secured claims of USD 19.5 million from the Acuinova bankruptcy estate and credit insurers in 
February 2015, while some unsecured claims have still not been settled. An estimated loss of NOK 48.5 
million (USD 7.7 million at average FX rate) has been recognised in 2014. This loss is offset by a reduction 
in the deferred consideration to Cermaq, see note 6, 22 and 23.  
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Subsequent events  
 
Sale of fish farming licenses 

EWOS owns two commercial fish farming licences in Norway which are operated in cooperation with an 
external party. An agreement has been entered into to sell these licenses with expected closing of the 
transaction in the second quarter of 2015. The licenses are classified as Assets held for sale in the 
Statement of financial position as of December 31, 2014.   
 
Special tax compliance issue 

In August 2013 it was discovered through an audit by the Norwegian Customs that EWOS wrongfully had 
claimed refund for special taxes related to mineral oil. The matter is now under investigation by the 
Norwegian National Authority for Investigation and Prosecution of Economic and Environmental Crime 
(ØKOKRIM). On March 11, 2015 they made an unannounced visit to several EWOS office locations in 
Norway and presented an indictment for violating section 2 of the Special Tax Act.  
 
Mineral oil is bunker oil that EWOS is reselling to fish farming barge as an additional service provided in 
connection with delivery of feed to these barges.  
 
After the audit in 2013, EWOS has in cooperation with the Customs authority implemented new routines for 
handling of the special taxes. EWOS has had an open dialogue with the Norwegian Customs on this issue 
and are now cooperating with ØKOKRIM by providing any information relevant for the investigation.  
 
A provision of NOK 33.1 million is recognised in the financial statement as of December 31, 2014, which is 
based on an estimated payment including unpaid taxes going ten years back, plus interest and estimated 
penalties. The provision was NOK 18.5 million as of December 31, 2013, which is based on an estimated 
payment including unpaid taxes going three years back, plus interest and estimated penalties. The provision 
is based on management’s best estimate, and the final payment amount will not be known until the issue is 
resolved with the relevant authorities.  
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Going concern 
 
The annual financial statements have been prepared under the assumption that the Company is a going 
concern and the board confirms that the going concern prerequisite has been met.  
 

Outlook 2015 
 
The global feed market for salmonids is estimated by Kontali to increase by around 2% in 2015 compared to 
2014 as growth flattens in Chile and North America and conditions in Norway normalise from the high growth 
in 2014 caused by changes in sea temperatures from 2013.  
 

Annual results and allocation  
 
On October 22, 2014 the Board of Directors approved an extraordinary allocation to its shareholder Albain 
Holdco Norway AS of NOK 169.2 million (in the form of distribution of paid-in capital) to support the financing 
of the acquisition of Nova Austral.  

Net loss for the year for EWOS Group AS (the parent company) was NOK 89.4 million and the Board 
proposes to cover the loss by funds from the share premium.  

 

Oslo, April 22, 2015 

 

 
 
 
 

Hugo Lund Maurstad 
Chairman of the Board 
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

 

Consolidated statement of income  
 

 
 
 

  

EWOS Group

Restated

NOK million for the period ended December 31 Note 2014 2013

Operating revenues 7 11,598.5              1,862.8                

Cost of materials 18 (9,327.0)               (1,530.5)               

Personnel expenses 8,9 (443.9)                  (77.9)                    

Other operating expenses 10 (1,178.2)               (204.7)                  

Other income 11 92.4                     -                           

Other expenses 11 (80.8)                    (0.7)                      

Depreciation and amortisation 15,16 (337.0)                  (68.1)                    

Operating result 324.0                   (19.0)                    

Share of net income from associates 0.2                       0.3                       

Financial income 12 33.9                     5.0                       

Financial expenses 12 (451.1)                  (79.8)                    

Net foreign exchange gain (loss) 12 (197.7)                  (67.3)                    

Fair value adjustments of financial instruments 12 (14.2)                    0.5                       

Financial items, net (629.1)                  (141.6)                  

Income (loss) before taxes (304.9)                  (160.4)                  

Income taxes 13 78.4                     54.3                     

Net income (loss) (226.5)                  (106.0)                  

Attributable to:

Shareholders of EWOS Group AS (226.7)                  (105.8)                  

Non-controlling interests 0.2                       (0.2)                      
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Consolidated statement of other comprehensive income 
 

 
 

  

EWOS Group

Restated

NOK million for the period ended December 31 Note 2014 2013

Net income (loss) (226.5)                  (106.0)                  

Other comprehensive income, net of tax: 

Items to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods: 

Currency translation differences 676.1                   52.0                     

Items not to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods: 

Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit plans 9,13 (14.6)                    (1.8)                      

Other comprehensive income 661.5                   50.2                     

Total comprehensive income 435.0                   (55.9)                    
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Consolidated statement of financial position  
 

 
 

 
Oslo, April 22, 2015 

 
Hugo Lund Maurstad 

Chairman of the Board 
(sign.) 

 
 
 

Stuart J. A. Gent 
Director 
(sign.) 

 
Edward John Han 

Director 
(sign.) 

 
Klas Erik Johansson 

Director 
(sign.) 

 
Yngve Myhre 

Director 
(sign.) 

 
Dwight Mac Vicar Poler 

Director 
(sign.) 

 
Eivind Kristofer Reiten 

Director 
(sign.) 

 
Dean Zuzic 

Director 
(sign.) 

 

 
Einar Wathne 

Chief Executive Officer 
(sign.)  

EWOS Group

Restated

NOK million as of December 31 Note 2014 2013

ASSETS

Deferred tax assets 13 6.6                           2.6                           

Goodwill 14 2,408.2                    2,129.6                    

Intangible assets 15 729.9                       814.6                       

Property, plant and equipment 16 2,184.9                    2,146.1                    

Investments in associated companies 9.1                           10.1                         

Other non-current financial assets 17 478.5                       193.0                       

Total non-current assets 5,817.4                    5,296.0                    

Inventories 18 1,293.8                    963.3                       

Biological inventories 85.5                         56.7                         

Trade and other receivables 19 1,984.3                    1,853.4                    

Assets held for sale 15,31 94.0                         -                               

Cash and cash equivalents 20 417.7                       777.0                       

Total current assets 3,875.2                    3,650.3                    

Total Assets 9,692.6                    8,946.2                    

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity attributable to equity holders of EWOS Group AS 30 2,236.1                    1,585.0                    

Non-controlling interests 0.7                           0.4                           

Total equity 2,236.8                    1,585.5                    

Pension liabilities 9 47.7                         27.0                         

Deferred tax liabilities 13 310.8                       431.4                       

Interest bearing non-current liabilities 21 4,644.2                    4,849.8                    

Other non interest bearing non-current liabilities 23 118.0                       13.3                         

Total non-current liabilities 5,120.7                    5,321.5                    

Trade and other payables 24 1,986.3                    1,489.8                    

Current non interest bearing liabilities 25 314.5                       530.8                       

Provisions 26,31 34.2                         18.5                         

Total current liabilities 2,335.1                    2,039.2                    

Total equity and liabilities 9,692.6                    8,946.2                    
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Consolidated statement of cash flow 
 

 

  

EWOS Group

Restated

NOK million for the period ended December 31 Note 2014 2013

Net income(loss) before taxes (304.9)                       (160.4)                       

(Gain) loss on sale of tangible assets 5.7                            0.7                            

Depreciation and amortisation 15,16 337.0                        68.1                          

Change in fair value of financial items 14.3                          (0.5)                           

Foreign exchange (gain) loss not relating to operating activities 153.7                        65.1                          

Net interest expense and other financial income 417.1                        74.9                          

Change in fair value of biological assets (6.7)                           (1.8)                           

Income taxes paid (59.8)                         (18.0)                         

(Income)/loss from associates 1.0                            (0.3)                           

Change in inventory, accounts receivable and accounts payable (90.0)                         521.0                        

Change in other current operating assets and liabilities (119.8)                       7.1                            

Net cash flow from operating activities 347.6                        555.8                        

Proceeds from sale of property, plant, equipment 16 7.4                            -                                

Purchases of property, plant, equipment 16 (153.6)                       (29.0)                         

Net payments loans to related parties (40.8)                         -                                

Acquisition of business, net of cash acquired 6 -                                (5,073.5)                    

Purchases of shares and other investments 5.0                            -                                

Net cash flow from investing activities (181.9)                       (5,102.5)                    

Proceeds from borrowings 21 -                                5,048.3                     

Payment of borrowings 21 (1.0)                           (892.1)                       

Interest paid 21 (395.4)                       (3.6)                           

Interest received 21 6.1                            1.2                            

Payments related to other financial items 21 (9.2)                           (478.4)                       

Proceeds from issue of equity -                                1,640.7                     

Repayment of equity to owner of EWOS Group AS (169.2)                       -                                

Net cash flow from financing activities (568.6)                       5,316.2                     

Foreign exchange effect 43.6                          7.4                            

Net change in cash and cash equivalents for the period (359.3)                       777.0                        

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 777.0                        -                                
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity 
 

 
  

EWOS Group

NOK million

Paid in 

Capital

Actuarial 

gains and 

losses 

Reserve

Retained 

Earnings

Foreign 

Currency 

Translation 

Reserve

Total

Non-

controlling 

interests

Total equity

Equity as of June 24, 2013 0.1             -                -                -                0.1             -                0.1             

Net income (loss) for the period (Restated) -                -                (105.8)        -                (105.8)        (0.2)            (106.0)        

Other comprehensive income -                (1.8)            -                52.0           50.2           -                50.2           

Total comprehensive income -                (1.8)            (105.8)        52.0           (55.7)          (0.2)            (55.9)          

Capital increase 1,640.6       -                -                -                1,640.6       -                1,640.6       

Aquisition of non-controlling interest -                -                -                -                -                0.6             0.6             

Equity as of December 31, 2013 1,640.7       (1.8)            (105.8)        52.0           1,585.0       0.4             1,585.5       

-                -                

Net income (loss) for the period -                -                (226.7)        -                (226.7)        0.2             (226.5)        

Other comprehensive income -                (14.6)          -                676.0         661.4         0.1             661.5         

Total comprehensive income -                (14.6)          (226.7)        676.0         434.7         0.3             435.0         

Convertion of debt 385.6         -                -                -                385.6         -                385.6         

Distribution to shareholders (169.2)        -                -                -                (169.2)        -                (169.2)        

Net losses charged to Paid in Capital (103.9)        -                103.9         -                -                -                -                

Equity as of December 31, 2014 1,753.2       (16.5)          (228.6)        728.0         2,236.1       0.7             2,236.8       

Attributable to equity holders of EWOS Group AS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

Note 1: General information and changes in IFRS 
 

General information 

EWOS (EWOS Group AS and its subsidiaries, hereinafter "EWOS" or the "Group") is a leading supplier of feed and 
nutrition for the international aquaculture industry and operates in all four of the world’s major salmon farming regions: 
Norway, Chile, Canada and Scotland. In addition, the Group has entered the feed market for other species in Vietnam. 
The Group continuously invests in research and development in order to maintain its strong reputation as the leader in its 
field.  
 
The parent company EWOS Group AS (earlier Albain Midco Norway AS) is incorporated in Norway and has its head 
office in Tollbodallmenningen, Bergen. These consolidated financial statements have been authorised for issue by the 
Board of Directors in EWOS Group AS on April 22, 2015. 
 
The consolidated financial statements of EWOS Group AS and its subsidiaries (the Group) have been prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and interpretations from the IFRS Interpretations 
Committee (IFRIC), as adopted by the European Union (EU).  
 

Adoption of new and amended standards and interpretations  

The following new and amended standards effective for accounting period starting on or after January 1, 2014 were 
relevant for the Group. None of these standards have any implementation effect on the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements: 
 

¶ IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements  
IFRS 10 requires management to exercise significant judgement to determine which entities are controlled, and 
therefore are required to be consolidated by a parent, compared with the requirements that were in IAS 27. 

 

¶ IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements  
IFRS 11 deals with how a joint arrangement of which two or more parties have joint control should be classified. 
Under IFRS 11, joint arrangements are classified as joint operations or joint ventures, depending on the rights 
and obligations of the parties to the arrangements. Joint operations under IFRS 11 shall be recognised in 
relation to the parties’ interests in the assets, including its share of assets held jointly, its liabilities, including its 
share of liabilities incurred jointly, its revenue and expenses, including its share of expenses incurred jointly. 
Joint ventures under IFRS 11 are required to be accounted for using the equity method of accounting.  

 

¶ IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 
IFRS 12 applies to enterprises with interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and structured 
entities and replaces the disclosure requirements that were previously included in IAS 27 Consolidated and 
Separate Financial Statements, IAS 28 Investments in Associates and IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures. 
Additionally, further disclosures are required.  

 

¶ IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation 
The amended IAS 32 clarifies the definition of the meaning of “currently has a legally enforceable right of setoff” 
and furthermore that some gross settlement systems may be considered equivalent to net settlement. 
 

Approved IFRSs and IFRICs with future effective dates 

Standards and interpretations that might impact the Group and are issued up to the date of issuance of the consolidated 
financial statements, but not yet effective, are disclosed below. The Group is assessing the potential impact on its 
financial statements resulting from the application of these new standards and will adopt the relevant new and amended 
standards and interpretations when they become effective, subject to EU approval before the consolidated financial 
statements are issued. 
 

¶ IFRS 9 Financial Instruments  

IFRS 9 will, when applied, replace most of IAS 39. The standard introduces new requirements for classification 
and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting. The adoption of IFRS 9 might have a minor impact on 
the classification and measurement of the Group’s financial assets and hedge accounting. IFRS 9 is effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.   
 

¶ IFRS 15 Revenues from Contracts with Customers 

IFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model that will apply to revenue arising from contracts with customers. 
Under IFRS 15 revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to 
be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. The principles in IFRS 15 provide a 
more structured approach to measuring and recognising revenue. The new revenue standard is applicable to all 
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entities and will supersede all current revenue recognition requirements under IFRS. Either a full or modified 
retrospective application is required for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017.  
 

¶ Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38: Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation 
The amendments clarify the principle in IAS 16 and IAS 38 that revenue reflects a pattern of economic benefits 
that are generated from operating a business (of which the asset is part) rather than the economic benefits that 
are consumed through use of the asset. As a result, a revenue-based method cannot be used to depreciate 
property, plant and equipment and may only be used in very limited circumstances to amortise intangible 
assets. The amendments are effective prospectively for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. 
 

There are no other IFRS or IFRIC interpretations that are not yet effective that would be expected to have a material 
impact on the Group. 

 
 

Note 2: Accounting principles 
 

Basis for preparation 

The consolidated financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention except for the following:  
– derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value  
– biological assets are measured at fair value less costs to sell 

 
The methods used to calculate fair values are discussed in the principles below and in the relevant notes. 

 

Presentation currency 

Figures are presented in Norwegian Kroner and all values are rounded to the nearest million with one decimal, except 
where otherwise indicated.  
 

Consolidation principles and non-controlling interests 

 
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group and its subsidiaries as at 
31 December 2014. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its 
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. 
Specifically, the Group controls an investee if, and only if, the Group has:  

¶ Power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant 
activities of the investee)  

¶ Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee  

¶ The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns  
 
The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 
changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group 
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the 
consolidated financial statements from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to 
control the subsidiary.  
 
Companies where EWOS Group AS has a significant influence (normally defined as ownership interest between 20% 
and 50% of the voting capital) over operations and financial decisions have been incorporated into the Group financial 
statements by means of the equity method. In accordance with this principle, the share of the net income from these 
companies for periods where significant influence is effective is included on the line “Share of net income from 
associates”. Under the equity method, investments in associated companies are carried in the statement of financial 
position at cost and adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of the net assets of the associated 
companies (i.e. comprehensive income and equity adjustments), less any impairment in the value of the investments. 
Any goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is assessed for impairment as part of the 
investment. 
 
The acquisition method is applied when accounting for business combinations. The cost of an acquisition is measured as 
the aggregate of the consideration transferred measured at acquisition date, fair value and the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree. Contingent considerations are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. 
Contingent consideration is classified as a financial liability and is subsequently measured at fair value with changes in 
fair value recognised in the income statement. For each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure the 
non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net 
assets. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the 
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual 
terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.  
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Companies that have been acquired during the year have been consolidated from the date of acquisition. Companies 
that have been sold during the year have been consolidated up until the date of transfer. 
 
Consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of uniform principles, and the accounting principles 
of subsidiaries are consistent with the policies adopted by the Group.  
 
All transactions and balances between Group companies have been eliminated. 
 
The share of net income after tax attributable to non-controlling interests is presented on a separate line after the 
Group’s profit for the year. Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented within equity separately from the equity 
attributable to the owners of the parent. Non-controlling interests consist either of the proportionate fair value of net 
identifiable assets or of fair value of those interests at the date of the business combination and the non-controlling 
interests’ share of changes in equity since the date of the business combination.  
 
A change in ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction. If the 
Group loses control over a subsidiary it derecognises the assets, liabilities, non-controlling interests and any 
accumulative translation differences in relation to the subsidiary. Any investment retained at the date when control is lost 
is measured at fair value and a gain/loss is recognised.  
 

Classification principles 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand and short term deposits with a maturity of three months 
or less.  
 
Other assets which are expected to be realised within the entity’s normal operating cycle or within twelve months from 
the balance sheet date, are classified as current assets. Other assets are classified as non-current assets.  
 
Liabilities that are expected to be settled in the entity’s normal operating cycle or are due to be settled within twelve 
months after the balance sheet date are classified as current liabilities. Other liabilities where the Group has an 
unconditional right to defer settlement for at least twelve months after the reporting period are classified as non-current 
liabilities. 
 
Any proposed dividends are not recognised as a liability until the Group has an irrevocable obligation to pay the dividend, 
which is normally after approval by the annual general assembly.  
 

Foreign currency translation 

Functional and presentation currency 

The functional currency of the parent company and the presentation currency of the Group is Norwegian Kroner. On 
consolidation assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments related to business 
combinations, are translated into Norwegian Kroner at the exchange rate at the balance sheet date and their income 
statements are translated at the average exchange rate for the year. Translation adjustments are recognised directly to 
other comprehensive income. 
 

Translation of transactions and balance sheet items into the functional currency of each group entity 

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency rate at the date of the transaction. 
Monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rate at the balance sheet date. Foreign 
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end 
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised as financial items in 
the income statement. 
 

Revenue recognition 

Sale of goods 

The sale of goods is recorded as operating revenue at the time when delivery has taken place, which is the point where 
the risk passes to the customer. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. 
Discounts, other price reductions, taxes, etc. are deducted from operating revenues.  
 
Transfers of risks and rewards vary depending on the individual delivery terms of the sale contract or terms with the 
specific customer. Risk is normally transferred to the customer at delivery at the customer’s premises or at shipment. 
 

Interest income 

Interest income is recognised as it accrues, using the effective interest method. 
 

Dividend 

Dividend income is recognised in profit and loss on the date that the Group’s right to receive payment is established. 
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Financial instruments 

Financial instruments are recognised in the balance sheet at the time when the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument, using trade date accounting. The instrument is de-recognised when the contractual rights 
expire or contractual rights and obligations are transferred. 
 

Derivative financial instruments 

The Group holds a limited number of financial derivative instruments used to hedge its foreign currency and interest rate 
risk exposures. Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value. Changes in fair value of derivatives are recognised 
through profit and loss and hedge accounting is not applied.  
 
Gains and losses on currency derivatives used to hedge currency risk related to the procurement of raw materials is 
classified as cost of raw materials.  
 
Financial derivatives are classified as current or non-current assets and liabilities based on maturity. 
 

Non-derivative financial instruments 

Non-derivative financial assets and liabilities of the Group are classified into the following categories: loans and 
receivables and other liabilities. The classification depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired. 
Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition and re-evaluates this designation at 
every reporting date. When financial assets or financial liabilities are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value 
and, except for derivatives, plus directly attributable transaction cost. 
 
Subsequent measurement of non-derivative financial assets and liabilities is as described below. 
 

Loans and receivables 

This category generally applies to trade and other receivables. Trade and other receivables are recognised at the 
amount expected to be settled being the nominal amount less any losses recognised for bad debt. The effect of 
discounting is accounted for if significant. 
 

Other liabilities 

This category generally applies to interest bearing liabilities. Other liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. 
 

Inventories 

Raw materials and purchased commodities are valued at the lower of historical cost and net realisable value. Cost of raw 
materials is accounted for in accordance with the FIFO principle. 
 
Finished goods are feed ready for delivery to the customer and valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The 
cost of finished goods includes any processing costs that have been incurred. Processing costs consist of logistics, 
handling and storage costs. Cost of finished goods is accounted for in accordance with the FIFO principle. 
 

Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are recognised at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment 
losses. 
 
Allowances are made for depreciation from the point in time when an asset is placed in operation, and depreciation is 
calculated based on useful life of the asset considering estimated residual value. The straight-line depreciation method is 
used as this best reflects the consumption of the assets, which often is the passage of time. 
 
Different depreciation rates are applied to an asset where components of the asset are characterised by having different 
useful economic lives. Land and plant under construction are not depreciated. For assets under construction, 
depreciation is charged once the asset is ready for its intended use. Gains or losses from sale of property, plant and 
equipment are calculated as the difference between sales price and carrying value at date of sale. Gains and losses from 
sale of property, plant and equipment are recorded in the income statement. 
 
Carrying values of property, plant and equipment are tested for impairment when events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Where the carrying value exceeds the estimated recoverable 
amount, the assets or cash generating units are written down to their recoverable amount. Assets under construction are 
tested for impairment at least annually or more frequent if there are indicators of impairment. 
 

Intangible assets 

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired 
in a business combination is their fair value at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are 
carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 
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The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite. 
20 

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever 
there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for 
an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the 
expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are 
considered to modify the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting 
estimates.  
 
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised, but are tested for impairment annually, either individually 
or at the cash-generating unit level. The assessment of indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the 
indefinite life continues to be supportable. If not, the change in useful life from indefinite to finite is made on a prospective 
basis. All internal research is expensed as incurred. 
 
Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development expenditures on an individual project are recognised as an 
intangible asset only when the Group can demonstrate: 
 

¶ The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that the asset will be available for use or sale 

¶ Its intention to complete and its ability and intention to use or sell the asset 

¶ How the asset will generate future economic benefits 

¶ The availability of resources to complete the asset 

¶ The ability to measure reliably the expenditure during development 
 
Following initial recognition of the development expenditure as an asset, the asset is carried at cost less any 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation of the asset begins when development is 
complete and the asset is available for use. It is amortised over the period of expected future benefit. During the period of 
development, the asset is tested for impairment annually. 
  
 
Where a business is acquired and the consideration for the business and the amount recognised for non-controlling 
interests, and any previous interest held exceeds the net fair values of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities, the difference, provided it represents a commercial value, is recognised as goodwill on the balance sheet. 
Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairments. 
 
At acquisition date goodwill is allocated to each of the cash generating units expected to benefit from the synergies of the 
business combination that gave rise to the goodwill. Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amounts of 
the cash generating unit to which the goodwill relates. In order to determine the Group’s cash generating units, assets 
are grouped together at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable and mainly independent cash inflows. 
Recoverable amount is the higher of value in use or fair value less costs of disposal. 
 

Assets held for sale 

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered 
principally through a sale rather than through continuing use. Such non-current assets and disposal groups classified as 
held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.  
 
The criteria for held for sale classification is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset or 
disposal group is available for immediate sale in its present condition. Management must be committed to the sale 
expected within one year from the date of the classification. Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are not 
depreciated or amortised once classified as held for sale.  
 
Assets and liabilities classified as held for sale are presented separately as current items in the statement of financial 
position.  
 

Leases 

The determination of whether an arrangement is (or contains) a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement at 
the inception date. The arrangement is assessed for whether fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a 
specific asset or assets or the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset or assets, even if that right is not explicitly 
specified in an arrangement. 
 
Finance leases that transfer substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased item to the 
Group, are capitalised at the commencement of the lease at the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, at the present 
value of the minimum lease payments. Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the 
lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are 
recognised in finance costs in the income statement.  
 
A leased asset is depreciated over the useful life of the asset. Operating lease payments are recognised as an operating 
expense in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 



 

 
25 

E
W

O
S

 G
R

O
U

P
 / 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 R
E

P
O

R
T

 2
0
1
4

 

 

Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is 
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable 
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be 
reimbursed, for example, under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset, but only 
when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to a provision is presented in the income statement net 
of any reimbursement. 
 

Pensions 

Group companies operate various pension schemes and these include both defined benefit schemes and defined 
contribution plans. 
21 

Defined benefit plans 

The current service cost and net interest income/costs are recognised immediately. The service costs are recognised in 
the salary and personnel cost in the income statement. Changes in value, both in assets and liabilities are recognised 
through other comprehensive income. 
 
In defined benefit plans, the pension commitments and pension expenses are determined using a linear accrual formula. 
A linear accrual formula distributes pension obligations in a straight line over the accrual period. The employees’ accrued 
pension rights during a period are defined as the pension expenses for the year. All pension expenses are recognised in 
the income statement as personnel expenses. 
 
Pension obligations are calculated on the basis of long-term discount rates, wage increases, price inflation and pension 
adjustment. 
 
Re-measurements, comprising of actuarial gains and losses and adjustments to estimated return on plan assets, are 
recognised in other comprehensive income (OCI) in the current period. Gains and losses from curtailments are 
recognised in the income statement. Re-measurements are not subsequently reclassified to the income statement.  
 
Multi-employer plans (like the Norwegian AFP) that are classified as defined benefit plans, but for which sufficient 
information is not available to enable recognition as a defined benefit plan, are accounted for as if they were defined 
contribution plans. 
 

Defined contribution plans 

The companies’ payments to defined contribution schemes are recognised in the income statement the year the 
contribution applies, with no further liability for the Group. 
 

Income tax 

Income tax expense consists of taxes payable and changes in deferred tax. 
 
Tax payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Tax payable is recognised at the amount expected to be paid out of 
taxable income in the financial statements. Share of net income from associated companies are recognised after tax and 
therefore does not affect the Group’s income tax expense. 
 
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all temporary differences and accumulated tax losses carried forward at the 
balance sheet date, which implies increased or decreased tax payable when these differences reverse in future periods. 
Temporary differences are differences between taxable profits and results that occur in one period and reverse in a later 
period. 
 
Deferred tax is calculated applying the nominal tax rates (at the balance sheet date for each relevant tax jurisdiction) to 
temporary differences and accumulated tax losses carried forward. 
 
A net deferred tax asset is only recognised when, on the basis of convincing evidence, it is more likely than not that there 
will be taxable profits from which the future reversal of the underlying timing differences can be deducted. 
 
Taxes payable and deferred taxes are recognised directly in equity to the extent that they relate to equity transactions. 
 

Share capital 

Ordinary shares 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares and share options are 
recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects. 
 

Cash flow statement 

The Group presents the statement of cash flow using the indirect method. The Group’s cash flow statement analyses the 
Group’s overall cash flow by operating, investment and financing activities. The acquisition of subsidiaries is shown as an 
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investment activity for the Group and is presented separately with deductions for any cash reserves in the acquired 
company. The statement shows the effect of operations on the Group’s cash and cash equivalents. 
 

 
Note 3: Critical accounting judgements and estimates  
 
Preparation of the combined financial statements requires that management makes judgments, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses. The final values realised may deviate from the applied estimates. 
 
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised. The estimates which are considered to be most significant 
for the Group are set out below: 
23 

Key sources of estimation uncertainty ï critical accounting estimates 

Goodwill and intangible assets 
Carrying value of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives is tested for impairment annually or more frequently 
if there are indicators of a reduction in value below carrying amount. This requires an estimation of value in use of the 
cash generating units to which the goodwill and intangible assets are allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the 
Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash generating unit and also to choose a suitable 
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. Expectations about future cash flows will vary 
between periods. Changes in market conditions and expected cash flows may cause impairments in the future. The 
major assumptions which have an impact on present value of projected cash flows are the discount rate, the estimated 
price of raw materials in each of the Group’s markets, cost of production for each product and salmon production 
volumes. Intangible assets and goodwill were recognised upon the acquisition of the EWOS Business. More details are 
given in note 14. 
 

Fair values on acquisitions 

The cost of an acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred measured at acquisition date 
fair value and the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree. The cost of the acquisition of the “EWOS 
business” on October 31, 2013 included a contingent consideration measured at NOK 173 million at the acquisition date. 
The fair values take into consideration the probability of meeting the performance target and the discount factor. The 
circumstances and the performance target related to the contingent consideration changed during 2014. On October, 15, 
2014 the Group entered into an agreement with Cermaq to settle the contingent consideration with a NOK 100 million 
payment in two equal instalments due on December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2017. Net present value of the liability 
on December 31, 2014 was NOK 88.5 million, see note 6 and 23. 
 
The cost of an acquisition is allocated to identifiable assets and liabilities at their estimated fair values at the time of 
acquisition. Any excess value beyond that allocated to assets and liabilities is recognised in the financial position as 
goodwill. To determine fair values on acquisition, estimates must be made. Commonly, an active market does not exist 
for assets and liabilities obtained through acquisitions and therefore alternative methods must be used to determine fair 
values. If fair value of net assets acquired exceeds the consideration paid, the difference is recognised in the income 
statement. The Group acquired the EWOS Business at October 31, 2013. Information on fair value of assets acquired 
and liabilities assumed is given in note 6. 
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Note 4: Correction to 2013 financial statements 
  
On September 11, 2013, prior to the closing of the acquisition of the EWOS Business on October 31, 2013, the Group 
entered into deal contingent currency forward contracts with Albain Finco S.À R.L. The currency forward contracts where 
closed on October 31, 2013 with a gain of NOK 173.6 million, but not settled by cash, and the Group earned a receivable 
on Albain Finco S.À R.L. Interest income on the receivable for 2013 amounts to NOK 3.5 million. 
 
These contracts were put in place to hedge NOK-EUR currency fluctuations between signing and closing of the 
transaction, as is customary for Euro denominated funds entering into Norwegian Kroner transactions.  
 
The gain and the receivable were not recognised in the 2013 financial statements.  The error has been corrected by 
restating each of the affected financial statement line items for the prior period, as follows:    

 
 
The error was detected in April 2015 during an internal review in Bain which prompted certain hedge accounting 
questions in Albain Finco, which further prompted questions to the Group to check consistency of approach. The 
outstanding receivable together with accrued interest has been formalised as a long term loan due on November 30, 
2021 carrying an interest of 12.0% per annum. Albain Finco S.À R.L.'s only major asset is a loan receivable on Albain 
Holdco Norway AS of 433.5 NOK million which is due on October 31, 2028. The Group, Albain Finco S.À R.L. and Albain 
Holdco Norway AS are under common control of Altor and Bain Capital. 
 
 

Note 5: Companies included in the consolidated financial statements  
  
The consolidated financial statements include the following entities: 

  
 
1) Ownership through EWOS AS 
2) In connection with the Acquisition in 2013, EWOS Holding AS bought 97.7% of the shares of the Vietnamese entity. The 

investment licence in Vietnam reflecting the change in ownership was obtained in February 2015; however the Group controls the 
voting rights in EWOS Vietnam JSC as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013. 

 

  

NOK million

As previously 

reported

Effect of 

restatement Restated

Consolidated income statement for the period ended December 31, 2013

Financial income 1.5                    3.5                    5.0                    

Net foreign exchange gain (loss) (240.9)                173.6                 (67.3)                 

Income taxes 102.2                 (47.8)                 54.3                  

Net income (loss) (235.3)                129.3                 (106.0)                

Consolidated statement of financial position as of December 31, 2013

Other non-current financial assets 19.3                  173.6                 193.0                 

Trade and other receivables 1,849.9              3.5                    1,853.4              

Equity attributable to equity holders of EWOS Group AS 1,455.7              129.3                 1,585.0              

Deferred tax liabilities 383.6                 47.8                  431.4                 

Company name Location Currency 2014 2013

Subsidiaries:

EWOS Holding AS (earlier Albain Bidco Norway AS) Norway NOK 100 % 100 %

Statkorn Aqua AS Norway NOK 100 % 100 %

EWOS AS Norway NOK 100 % 100 %

EWOS Innovation AS Norway NOK 100 % 100 %

Norsk Bioakva AS Norway NOK 0 % 100 %

Albain Bidco UK Ltd UK GBP 100 % 100 %

EWOS Ltd. Scotland GBP 100 % 100 %

Dales Voe Salmon Ltd (Dormant) Scotland GBP 100 % 100 %

EWOS Canada Ltd Canada CAD 100 % 100 %

EWOS U.S.A Inc (Dormant) Canada CAD 100 % 100 %

EWOS Chile Alimentos Ltda Chile USD 100 % 100 %

EWOS Vietnam JSC 2) Vietnam VND 97.7 % 97.7 %

Associated companies: 1)

Artic Fjell AS Norway NOK 40 % 40 %

Feed Tromsø AS Norway NOK 40 % 40 %

Ownership interest and voting share



 

 
28 

E
W

O
S

 G
R

O
U

P
 / 

A
N

N
U

A
L

 R
E

P
O

R
T

 2
0
1
4

 

 

Note 6: Business combinations 
 

Acquisitions 2014 

No business combinations were completed by the Group in 2014.  
 

Acquisitions 2013 

On October 31, 2013 (the "Acquisition date"), EWOS Holding AS, a 100% owned subsidiary of EWOS Group AS, 
completed the acquisition of the EWOS Business. Each of EWOS Group AS and EWOS Holding AS were incorporated 
as acquisition vehicles for purposes of the Acquisition which was completed on October 31, 2013.  
 
As a result of the Acquisition, the Group became one of the major worldwide participants within the fish feed market. The 
goodwill of NOK 2,098.5 million arising from the acquisition is mainly attributable to the expected improvements from 
running the business in a more efficient way. None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for income tax 
purposes.  
 
The following table summarises the total estimated consideration for the EWOS Business, and the fair value of assets 
acquired and the liabilities assumed on October 31, 2013. 

 
 
1) In connection with the acquisition, NOK 5,308.1 million was paid in cash to Cermaq for the purchase of the share of the EWOS 

business.   

 
The contingent consideration was initially recognised at fair value of NOK 173.1 million at the acquisition date, which 
corresponded to the discounted expected settlement of outstanding receivables related to two of EWOS’s larger 
customers in Chile, Acuinova and Nova Austral. The contingent consideration represented a potential additional cash 
payment of NOK 180 million representing the nominal value of the related receivables. 
 
In 2014, a loss provision was recognised on the Acuinova and Nova Austral receivables of USD 7.7 million. The credit 
risk related to these receivables is further described in note 22. EWOS and Cermaq agreed on October 15, 2014 to a 
settlement of the contingent consideration with a NOK 100 million payment to Cermaq in two equal instalments due on 
December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2017. A settlement gain of NOK 92.4 million has been recognised in 2014, and 
on December 31, 2014 the liability was recognised at net present value of NOK 88.5 million and classified as other non-
current non-interest bearing liabilities.  
 

NOK million

As of October 

31, 2013

Consideration:

Purchase price 1) 5,308.1           

Contigent consideration 173.0             

Total consideration transferred 5,481.1           

Booked value of equity 2,358.8           

Goodwill pre acquisition 138.3             

Excess value to be allocated 3,260.6           

Net excess values 1,162.1           

Goodwill 2,098.5           

Fair value of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed:

Intangible assets 826.8             

Property, plant and equipment 2,155.3           

Non-current loans and receivables 15.9               

Investments in associated companies 10.0               

Inventories 1,251.5           

Trade and other receivables 2,155.1           

Cash and cash equivalents 231.5             

Pensions (22.0)              

Other non-current interest bearing debt (888.8)            

Other financial liabilities -                    

Deferred tax liabilities (457.7)            

Accounts payable (1,576.0)          

Other current liabilities (319.1)            

Total identifiable net assets 3,382.6           

Goodwill 2,098.5           

Total 5,481.1           
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The Group’s exposure related to the receivables has been significantly reduced as an EWOS affiliate on October 23, 
2014 completed the acquisition of Nova Austral. Furthermore, EWOS has received VAT refund and cash settlements for 
secured claims from the Acuinova bankruptcy estate and credit insurers. On December 31, 2014 the estimated loss 
accrual recognised in accounts receivables was NOK 57.4 million (USD 7.7 million at closing FX rate). 
 
The fair value of trade receivables acquired was NOK 2,073 million. The gross amount of these trade receivables was 
NOK 2,084 million at the acquisition date.  
 
The revenue included in the consolidated income statement since October 31, 2013 contributed by the EWOS Business 
was NOK 1,862.9 million. The EWOS Business also contributed to a net income of NOK 60.3 million over the same 
period. Had the acquisition of the EWOS Business taken place on January 1, 2013, the revenue for the Group would 
have been NOK 10,840 million and the net loss would have been NOK 146.9 million. 
 
 

Note 7: Segment reporting 
 
Operating segments are reported in the same manner as the internal reporting to the Group’s chief operating decision 
maker. The Group’s chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocation of resources to and evaluating 
profitability of the operating segments, is defined as the Chief Executive Officer. 

The Group has organised and manages its operation based on geographical location and has determined the operating 
segments based on the information reviewed by the Chief Executive Officer, to be the following: Norway, Chile, Scotland, 
Canada and Vietnam. Each of these locations produces feed and nutrition for farmed fish; Norway, Chile, Scotland and 
Canada for salmon and Vietnam for other species.  

The economic characteristics of the salmonid feed operations in Norway, Chile, Canada and Scotland are similar to one 
another as they are highly affected by global trends in terms of raw material sourcing and pricing as well as global 
demand for salmon. In addition the major competitors are the same global players in those geographies and the 
customers are increasingly globalising their operations. Local currency exposures are mitigated by price adjustments 
clauses in feed supply contracts. These operating segments (with the exception of Vietnam) exhibit long-term financial 
performance and margins which are similar, and therefore, the Group reports its segment information for those segments 
on an aggregated basis. The operating segments Norway, Chile, Scotland, and Canada are reported under the 
aggregated segment “Salmon feed”. Vietnam is included within other, as it comprises less than 10% of the Group.  

 
 
Included in revenues arising from the direct sales of Salmon feed of NOK 11,294.7 million in 2014 are revenues from 
sales to the Group’s two largest customers of NOK 2,370 million and NOK 1,450 million respectively. 
 
  

Segment information 2014:

Operating Gross Capital Total

NOK million revenue profit expenditures assets

Salmon feed 11,294.7            2,193.2              125.7                 9,344.9              

Other 339.6                 72.5                  20.7                  347.6                

Eliminations (35.8)                 (0.9)                   -                        -                       

Group             11,598.5               2,264.9                  146.4               9,692.6 

Segment information 2013:

Restated

Operating Gross Capital Total

NOK million revenue profit expenditures assets

Salmon feed 1,820.9              319.3                 32.0                  8,667.8              

Other 43.5                  11.7                  0.8                    278.4                

Eliminations (1.7)                   (0.5)                   -                        -                       

Group               1,862.8                  330.5                   32.8               8,946.2 
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Group operating revenues by the location of the individual customers: 

 
 
Total assets per country: 

 
 

Note 8: Wages and other personnel expenses 
 

 
 
Total number of employees in the Group at December 31, 2014 was 1,096 (1,039 at December 2013). 
The average number of man-year employed was 1,029 in 2014 (997 in 2013). 
 
Remuneration to key management:  

 
1) Remuneration for the period ended December 31, 2014 from employment in February 2014 
2) Remuneration for the period ended December 31, 2013 from the Acquisition date 

 

 
 
The Group has implemented a management investment programme in 2014. The management investment programme 
allows certain members of EWOS management to invest in B-shares in Albain Management Invest AS. B-shares do not 
have any voting rights, but are entitled to dividend.  Albain Management Invest AS owns all B-shares in Albain Holdco 
Norway AS. Albain Holdco Norway AS is the shareholder of all shares in EWOS Group AS. Investments in Albain 
Management Invest AS give the CFO and CEO an economical share (rights to dividends but no voting rights) in the 
Group of 0.19% each. 
 

NOK million 2014 2013

Norway 6,009.5              982.8                 

Chile 3,485.9              592.9                 

United Kingdom 1,036.8              146.0                 

Canada 514.7                 69.9                  

Vietnam 242.0                 35.8                  

USA 129.1                 16.1                  

Rest of Europe 130.0                 16.9                  

Other countries 50.5                  2.3                    

Total operating revenues 11,598.5            1,862.8              

Operating revenues

Restated

NOK million 2014 2013

Norway 4,188.2              4,201.3              

Chile 4,303.0              3,704.9              

United Kingdom 592.4                 626.9                 

Canada 445.0                 311.8                 

Vietnam 164.0                 101.3                 

Total assets 9,692.6              8,946.2              

Total assets

NOK million 2014 2013

Wages and salaries including holiday pay 362.3                        62.5                         

Social security tax 30.9                          6.2                           

Pension costs 17.2                          3.1                           

Other personnel costs 33.4                          6.0                           

Total personnel expenses 443.9                        77.9                         

NOK thousand

Base              

salary 

Bonus        

earned 

Other         

benefits 

Pension 

benefit earned 

Loan 

outstanding 

2014:

Einar Wathne Group Chief Executive Officer (CEO) 2,495            817              158              545              18                

Brent Baumbusch 1) Group Chief Financial Officer (CFO) 1,583            569              135              159              -               

2013:

Einar Wathne 2) Group Chief Executive Officer (CEO) 373              91                26                129              126              

Name 

Agreed period of notice, 

months base salary 

Severance pay 

months base salary Pension benefits 

Einar Wathne  6 months  6 months 
Defined contribution, 3% of 1-6 G, 6% of 6-12 G. Defined benefit for 

base salary above 12 G. Retirement age 67. 

Brent Baumbusch  6 months  6 months 
Defined contribution, 3% of 1-6 G, 6% of 6-12 G. Defined contribution 

15% of base salary above 12 G. Retirement age 67. 
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The CEO has been given a loan from its employer EWOS Holding AS which bears interest equal to Norwegian norm 
interest. The average per annum interest was 2.63% in 2014 and 2.25% in 2013.  
 
Board of Directors 

No remuneration to the Board of Directors has been paid in 2014 or 2013; however NOK 0.1 million has been accrued as 
earned remuneration for external board members as per December 31, 2014. See note 29 for other advisory fees to 
members of the Board. 
 
 

Note 9: Pension costs and pension obligations 
 
The Norwegian companies in the Group are obligated to follow the Act on Mandatory company pensions and these 
companies’ pension schemes follow the requirement as set in the Act. 
 

Of the 1,096 employees at December 31, 2014 (1,039 at December 31, 2013), 487 (454 in 2013) are members of 
pension schemes within the Group. 66 (69 in 2013) of these are located in Scotland, 55 (63 in 2013) in Canada and the 
remaining 366 (332 in 2013) in Norwegian companies.  
 
The Norwegian companies in the Group have defined contribution schemes for active members. Contributions are given 
in steps of 3% and 6% of salary for salaries below 12G (which is equivalent to annual salary of around NOK 1,060,000). 
Furthermore, some of the Group’s foreign subsidiaries have contribution schemes. Contributions are made at various 
rates of salary depending on the age and position of the employee. Contributions to these schemes in 2015 are expected 
to be at approximately the same level as in 2014 given the scheme structures as at year-end 2014. 

EWOS Ltd has a defined benefit pension scheme which was closed for future accrual in 2007 following transfer to a 
defined contribution scheme. The scheme is established under a trust, which means that its assets are held separately 
from the company’s assets, but any funding shortfall must be financed by the company.  As of December 31, 2014, the 
scheme deficit was GBP 2.9 million (GBP 1.3 million as of December 31, 2013). All scheme assets are held by EWOS 
Ltd pension scheme trustees and are mainly invested in an investment fund.  

Top Hat-schemes in the Norwegian companies in the Group (benefits for salary above 12G), are non-funded defined 
benefit schemes for employees within the scheme at December 31, 2006. Persons entering the Top Hat-scheme after 
this date earn annual pension rights equal to 15% of salary above 12G. The scheme is not funded and is classified as 
defined benefit liabilities. 

In Norway, the Group is a member of an «agreement-based early retirement plan» (AFP). This plan entitles essentially 
all of the Norwegian employees life-long benefits from the age of 62 in addition to other plans. The plan is financed 
through a pooled arrangement by private sector employers to which the Norwegian government also contributes. The 
private sector employers contribute with 2/3 of the funding requirements and the Norwegian government 1/3. The 
contribution for 2014 was 2.2% of the total payments between 1 and 7.1 times the base amount (G) to the employees. 
For 2015 the contribution is set to 2.4%. The plan is considered a defined benefit multiemployer plan with limited funding 
and with plan assets that are not segregated. The information required to calculate a proportional share of the plan and 
account for the plan as a defined benefit plan is not available from the plan administrator. Consequently, the plan is 
accounted for as a defined contribution plan. 
 
Pension liabilities recognised: 
 

 
 

Components of net pension expense: 
 

 
 

NOK million as of December 31 2014 2013

Present value of funded defined benefit obligations 168.4                      139.0                      

Fair value of plan assets (134.1)                     (119.5)                     

Present value of unfunded defined benefit obligations 13.4                        7.5                          

Net pension liability 47.7                        27.0                        

NOK million 2014 2013

Current service cost 1.6                          0.1                          

Net interest on the net defined benefit liability (asset) 1.5                          0.4                          

Net pension expense defined benefit plans 3.1                          0.5                          

Pension expense defined contribution plans 10.3                        1.8                          

Pension expense multi-employer benefit plans accounted for as defined contribution plans 3.8                          0.8                          

Net pension expense 17.2                        3.1                          
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Changes in the defined benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets: 

 

Actuarial assumptions used to determine the present value of the defined benefit obligation: 

 

The Group has used the Norwegian covered bonds (OMF) and in the UK high quality corporate bonds as basis for the 
discount rate for both 2014 and 2013. 

Sensitivities 

The above pension cost and pension liabilities related to defined benefit schemes are based on the assumptions outlined 
above. The actuarial calculations are sensitive to any changes in these assumptions. Normally, a change in discount rate 
by 0.5% would imply an 11% change in the present value of defined benefit obligations. A 0.5% change in wage 
adjustment would imply a 5% change in the present value of defined benefit obligations. 
 

Note 10: Other operating expenses 
 

 
 
Research and development costs 

Research and development (R&D) costs are expenditures on research projects related to aquaculture and include costs 
of employing scientists and administrators, costs of technical equipment, premises costs and costs of contractors. R&D 
cost expensed was NOK 131.9 million during 2014 (NOK 21.9 million in 2013). 

 

 

 

NOK in millions

Defined 

benefit 

obligation 

Fair value 

plan assets 

Net pension 

liability 

Defined 

benefit 

obligation 

Fair value 

plan assets 

Net pension 

liability 

As of January 1 (146.5)        119.5         (27.0)          -                -                -                

Service cost (1.6)            -                (1.6)            (0.1)            (0.1)            

Net interest (6.8)            5.3             (1.5)            (0.5)            0.0             (0.4)            

Sub-total included in Income Statement             (8.4)              5.3             (3.1)             (0.6)              0.0             (0.5)

Return on plan assets (excluding amounts included in 

net interest expense) 
-                4.4             4.4             -                (7.2)            (7.2)            

Actuarial changes arising from changes in financial 

assumptions 
(19.1)          -                (19.1)          4.8             -                4.8             

Experience adjustments (3.8)            0.4             (3.4)            -                -                -                

Other Comprehensive Income           (22.9)              4.8           (18.1)              4.8             (7.2)             (2.4)

Effects of business combinations and disposals (0.8)            -                (0.8)            (151.0)        126.8         (24.2)          

Contributions by employer 0.0             4.6             4.6             0.1             0.1             

Benefits paid 15.4           (14.7)          0.7             1.8             (1.6)            0.2             

Translation differences (18.7)          14.7           (4.0)            (1.5)            1.3             (0.2)            

As of December 31         (181.9)          134.1           (47.7)         (146.5)          119.5           (27.0)

2014 2013

As of December 31 UK Norway UK Norway

Discount rate 3.65 % 3.00 % 4.65 % 4.10 %

Future salary increases 3.10 % 3.25 % 3.60 % 3.50 %

Future increase in the social security base amount 2.10 % 3.00 % 2.80 % 3.50 %

Future pension increases n/a 0.10 % n/a 1.50 %

Mortality table K-2013 K-2013

2014 2013

NOK million 2014 2013

Operating lease expense 22.5                  3.6                    

Sales and administration 111.3                 23.6                  

Professional fees 155.4                 36.2                  

Bad debt 3.7                    0.2                    

Fees to auditors 3.9                    0.1                    

Customer freight 522.8                 86.6                  

Operation and maintenance 324.9                 36.5                  

Other operating expenses 33.7                  18.0                  

Total operating expenses 1,178.2              204.7                 
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Audit fees 

 
 
Further assurance services in 2014 and 2013 include attestations, reviews and other procedures related to the offering 
memorandum in 2013 and prospectus in 2014 in connection with the offering and listing of the Senior Subordinated and 
Senior Secured notes.  
 

Note 11: Other income and expenses  

 

See note 6, 23 and 25 for details of the gain related to the deferred consideration to Cermaq and the loss related to the 
Acuinova bankruptcy. See notes 26 and 31 for details on the tax claim related to mineral oil. 
 

Note 12: Financial income and expenses 

 
 
Net foreign exchange loss was NOK 197.7 million in 2014, of which NOK 149.0 million are unrealised exchange losses 
from valuing the EUR 225 million Senior Secured notes to the December 31, 2014 EUR/NOK exchange rate. 

Net foreign exchange loss was NOK 67.3 million in 2013, of which NOK 31.8 million was realised due to losses on deal 
contingent forward exchange contracts entered into in July and September 2013, to hedge currency exposure of EUR 
557.7 million related to the financing of the acquisition of the EWOS Business that took place on October 31, 2013. As 
described in note 4, part of the deal contingent hedge arrangements were not recognised in the 2013 financial statement. 
Foreign currency forward contracts with banks generating a loss of NOK 205.4 million were recognised, while foreign 
currency forward contracts with Albain Finco S.À R.L. generating a gain of NOK 173.6 million were not recognised. This 
error has been corrected by restating prior period. The loss of NOK 31.8 million is the net loss after gains on currency 
forward contracts with Albain Finco S.À R.L. 

Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) also includes an unrealised loss of NOK 59.5 million, from valuing the EUR 225 million 
debt to the December 31, 2013 EUR/NOK exchange rate. Other net foreign exchange gain amounted to NOK 24.0 
million and was realised in connection with transfer between Group companies of shares in subsidiaries and 
intercompany loans denominated in GBP and USD.  

Net gain on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss relates to interest rate derivatives that did not qualify 
for hedge accounting, see note 22. 

NOK million 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

EWOS Group AS 0.2          0.1          -              -              -              -              0.0          -              

Other Group companies 2.4          2.0          0.2          3.5          0.1          -              0.4          -              

Total fees to auditor 2.6          2.1          0.2          3.5          0.1          -              0.5          -              

Audit                      

fees

Fees for further 

assurance services

Fees for tax     

services

Fees for other     

services

NOK million 2014 2013

Settlement gain deferred consideration Cermaq 92.4                  -                        

Total other income 92.4                  -                        

Acuinova bankruptcy - losses on accounts receivables (48.5)                 -                        

Exit cost; termination fee time charter agreements (12.0)                 -                        

Change in provision for special tax claim related to mineral oil (14.6)                 -                        

Net gain (losses) disposal of fixed assets (5.7)                   (0.7)                   

Total other expenses (80.8)                 (0.7)                   

Restated

NOK million 2014 2013

Interest income on cash and cash equivalents 3.5                    0.9                    

Other financial income 30.4                  4.1                    

Total financial income 33.9                  5.0                    

Interest expense on financial liabilities measured at amortised cost (403.5)                (74.1)                 

Other financial expense (47.6)                 (5.7)                   

Total financial expense (451.1)                (79.8)                 

Net foreign exchange gains / (losses) (197.7)                (67.3)                 

Net change in fair value of financial instruments at fair value through profit & loss (14.2)                 0.5                    

Net financial items (629.1)                (141.6)                
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Note 13: Income taxes 
 
Income tax expense 

 
 
Effective tax rate 

The Group's effective tax rate differs from the nominal tax rate in Norway of 27% for 2014 and 28% for 2013. The 
relationship between tax expense and accounting profit (loss) before taxes is as follows: 

 
 
Difference from the Norwegian corporate tax rates is mainly related to Chile operation that is subject to a corporate 
income tax rate of 21.5%. Effect from changes in tax rates is in 2014 mainly related to the effect on deferred taxes from 
the tax reform in Chile which implies that corporate income taxes rate will gradually increase to 27% over the next three 
years, and in 2013 related to the effect on deferred taxes due to the reduction in the corporate tax rate in Norway from 
28% to 27% applicable from January 1, 2014.  
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities 

 
 
The Group's tax losses carried forward mainly relates to the operations in Norway and can be carried forward for an 
unlimited period. Deferred tax assets related to the operation in Vietnam are not fully recognised due to a history of 
recent losses. 
 
Changes in net deferred taxes 

 

Restated

NOK million 2014 2013

Current taxes expense / (benefit) 82.3                  (20.1)                 

Deferred taxes (160.7)                (34.3)                 

Income tax expense / (benefit) (78.4)                 (54.3)                 

Restated

NOK million 2014 2013

Profit (loss) before taxes (304.9)                (160.4)                

Income tax expense at corporate income tax rate in Norway (27% in 2014, 28% in 2013) (82.3)                 (44.9)                 

Tax rates outside Norway different from 27%/28% (12.8)                 (0.1)                   

Effect of changes in tax rates 37.9                  (11.6)                 

Share of net income from associated companies 0.1                    -                        

Non-taxable and non-deductible items (18.8)                 1.8                    

Deferred tax assets not recognised current year -                        2.2                    

Change in previously not recognised deferred tax assets (3.3)                   -                        

Effect of adjustments recognised related to prior periods 0.9                    (1.7)                   

Income tax expense / (benefit) (78.4)                 (54.3)                 

Effective tax rate 25.7 % 33.9 %

Restated

NOK million 2014 2013

Tangible and intangible assets (466.8)                (442.1)                

Other non-current items (59.3)                 (52.1)                 

Current items 3.9                    (2.0)                   

Unused tax losses 222.2                 69.3                  

Calculated net deferred tax assets / (liabilities) (300.0)                (427.0)                

Unrecognised deferred tax assets (4.1)                   (1.8)                   

Net deferred tax assets / (liabilities) recognised (304.2)                (428.8)                

Of which deferred tax liabilites (310.8)                (431.4)                

Of which deferred tax assets 6.6                    2.6                    

Restated

NOK million 2014 2013

As of January 1 / June 24 (428.8)                -                        

Recognised in the income statement 160.7                 34.3                  

Recognised in other comprehensive income 3.5                    (0.7)                   

Aquisitions and disposals of companies -                        (463.0)                

Translation differences (39.6)                 0.6                    

As of December 31 (304.2)                (428.8)                
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Note 14: Goodwill and impairment testing 
 

 
 
Identification of possible loss on impairment  

 
The cash generating units are the different operations in each country. Management tests the carrying value of the cash 
generating units with significant goodwill annually or more frequently if there is an indication that the cash generating unit 
may be impaired. Value in use is the basis for recoverable amount.  
 
Goodwill acquired in the Acquisition on October 31, 2013 has been allocated to the individual cash generating units as 
presented above.  
 
Management has tested the cash generating units for impairment by comparing the net present value (NPV) of projected 
future cash flows with the carrying value of the units taking into account all circumstances which could affect asset value. 
NPV is calculated by discounting management’s best estimates of cash flows for the next four years on the basis of the 
companies’ updated forecast for the coming year and the management’s projections for the next three years based on 
economic prognoses. The terminal value is calculated as the net present value of the expected net cash flow in year five 
over the remaining useful life of the assets, adjusted for growth. The entities are tested in their current condition. 
The most important assumptions used in the impairment calculations are based on long-term expectations about the 
industry in general and the cash generating units in particular. Base case margin assumptions are developed using the 
Group’s long-term expectations for the industry, which may vary significantly from the short-term margins achieved 
mainly due to price fluctuations. Volume assumptions are based on existing production capacities and planned capacity 
utilisation. The Group’s review process includes sensitivity analysis and analysis of actual results achieved compared to 
long-term assumptions to assess whether the long-term base case assumptions continue to correctly reflect 
expectations.  
 
For the year 2014, the value in use for the cash generating units is based on the following discount rates and terminal 
value growth rates:  

 
 
The Group has in the calculations applied estimated cash flows after tax and corresponding discount rate after tax. The 
recoverable amounts would not change significantly if pre-tax cash flows and pre-tax discount rate had rather been 
applied. 
 
On the basis of this analysis, management believes that there is no need for impairment of the carrying value of goodwill 
and other intangible assets as of December 31, 2014.  
 
Sensitivities 

In connection with the impairment testing of goodwill, sensitivity analyses have been carried out by considering changes 
in sales volume, operating profit and discount rates. These are considered the most important assumptions for the long-
term expectations about the industry in general and the cash generating units in particular.  
 
Sales volume - The assumptions are based on existing production capacities and planned capacity utilisation. 

 
Operating profit – Sales volume, gross margin and other production costs are the significant factors that impact the 

operating profit. This profit is reflected by estimating the operating profit per kilogram which is based on the companies’ 
long-term expectations of production costs and future market development. These may vary from achieved margins in 
the short-term mainly due to price fluctuations.  
 
Discount rate - Discount rates are based on Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC) derived from the Capital Asset 

Pricing Model (CAPM) methodology. In Chile, where a local risk-free yield does not exist, the WACC rate used in 
discounting the future cash flows are based on a US 10-year risk-free interest rate adjusted for inflation differential and 
country risk premium. The discount rates also take into account the debt premium, market risk premium, gearing, 
corporate tax rate and asset beta.  
 

NOK million EWOS Norway EWOS Chile Other Total

As of June 24, 2013 -                      -                      -                      -                      

Additions through acquisition of subsidiaries 854.0               1,138.5             106.0               2,098.5             

Currency effects -                      27.4                 3.7                   31.1                 

As of December 31, 2013 854.0               1,165.9             109.7               2,129.6             

Currency effects -                      262.9               15.8                 278.7               

As of December 31, 2014 854.0               1,428.8             125.5               2,408.2             

2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

EWOS Norway 6.5             7.7               8.9               10.6             1.1                2.0           

EWOS Chile 10.0            11.1             12.9              14.8             3.0                3.0           

Discount rate after tax 

(WACC) in %

Discount rate pre tax                 

in %

Nominal growth in terminal 

value in %
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The long-term assumptions are assessed on an ongoing basis and the assumptions applied in future impairment tests 
may vary from those applied in 2013. The Group has a review process, which includes sensitivity analysis and analysis 
of actual results achieved compared to long-term assumptions, to assess whether the long-term base case assumptions 
continue to correctly reflect expectations. 
 
On the basis of this analysis, management believes that there is no need to account for any goodwill impairment loss as 
of December 31, 2014. 
 

 
Note 15: Intangible assets 

 
 
EWOS owns two commercial fish farming licences in Norway that are operated in cooperation with an external party. 
These licences are now offered to be sold and a process is ongoing with potential buyers. The licenses have in 2014 
been reclassified from Intangible assets to Assets held for sale. 
 
Trademarks include the ‘EWOS’ trademark which was recognised at fair value in the acquisition of the EWOS Business 
on October 31, 2013. Trademarks are allocated between the cash generating units and have been tested for impairment, 
see note 14. 
 
Customer related assets include major customer contracts and customer relationships which were recognised at fair 
value in the acquisition of the EWOS Business on October 31, 2013.  
 

  

NOK million Licences Trademarks

Customer 

related 

assets

Feed 

production 

technology

Other 

Intangible 

assets Total

Accumulated cost:

As of June 24, 2013 -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  

Additions through acquisition of subsidiaries 94.0            216.2           356.9           155.4           4.2              826.8           

Currency effects -                  3.2              10.5            2.3              (0.1)             16.0            

As of December 31, 2013 94.0            219.4           367.4           157.8           4.2              842.8           

Additions -                  -                  -                  -                  0.1              0.1              

Reclassification to asset held for sale (94.0)           -                  -                  -                  -                  (94.0)           

Currency effects -                  29.1            76.0            20.9            3.7              129.8           

As of December 31, 2014 -                  248.5           443.5           178.7           8.0              878.7           

Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses:

As of June 24, 2013 -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  

Amortisation -                  -                  (23.8)           (4.3)             (0.2)             (28.2)           

Currency effects -                  -                  0.1              0.0              0.0              0.1              

As of December 31, 2013 -                  -                  (23.7)           (4.3)             (0.2)             (28.2)           

Amortisation -                  -                  (70.7)           (26.1)           (1.2)             (98.1)           

Currency effects -                  -                  (15.9)           (3.4)             (3.2)             (22.5)           

As of December 31, 2014 -                  -                  (110.3)          (33.8)           (4.7)             (148.7)          

Carrying amount

As of December 31, 2013 94.0            219.4           343.7           153.5           4.0              814.6           

As of December 31, 2014 -                  248.5           333.2           144.9           3.3              729.9           

Useful life Indefinite Indefinite 3-7 years 6 years 3-7 years
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Note 16: Property, plant and equipment 
 

 
 
For assets under construction, depreciation is charged when the asset is ready for its intended use. 
The Group has financial leases with carrying amounts of NOK 1.8 million as of December 31, 2014 (NOK 2.7 million as 
of December 31, 2013). The present value of future minimum lease payments under financial leases is NOK 1.7 million. 
 
 

Note 17: Other non-current financial assets 

 
 
Included in interest bearing loans to affiliated companies is the receivable incurred from a gain of NOK 173.6 million from 
currency forward contracts that were entered into in 2013 with Albain Finco S.À R.L. in relation to the closing of the 
acquisition of the EWOS Business in October 2013. The outstanding receivable together with accrued interest has been 
formalised as a long term loan and the balance was NOK 194.5 million as of December 31, 2014 and NOK 173.6 million 
as of December 31, 2013. For more details see note 4, 12 and 29.  
 
Also included in interest bearing loans to affiliated companies in 2014 is the USD 35.9 million of overdue receivables on 
related party Nova Austral S.A. that has been converted to a subordinated loan payable on October 22, 2019. For more 
details see note 22 and 29. 
  
For information about the fair value of financial instruments, see note 21. The Group’s exposure to credit risks related to 
other receivables is disclosed in note 22.  

  

NOK million

Machinery, 

fixtures, 

vehicles, etc. Buildings Land

Assets under 

construction Total

Accumulated cost:

As of June 24, 2013                      - -                     -                     -                     -                    

Additions through acquisition of subsidiaries 1,160.0           665.1              200.4              129.9              2,155.3           

Additions 57.7                3.7                 0.5                 (29.2)               32.8               

Derecognition (11.8)               (0.5)                -                     -                     (12.3)              

Reclassification 0.5                 0.1                 -                     (0.6)                -                    

Currency effects (0.4)                (0.2)                (1.0)                (0.2)                (1.7)                

As of December 31, 2013 1,206.0           668.3              199.9              99.8                2,174.1           

Additions 105.5              14.7                4.5                 21.6                146.3             

Derecognition (28.8)               (10.8)               -                     -                     (39.5)              

Reclassification 48.0                4.4                 0.8                 (53.1)               -                    

Currency effects 185.0              55.3                24.9                13.3                278.6             

As of December 31, 2014 1,515.8           731.9              230.1              81.6                2,559.4           

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses:

As of June 24, 2013 -                    

Depreciation (33.6)               (6.1)                (0.1)                -                     (39.9)              

Derecognition 11.2                0.4                 -                     -                     11.6               

Currency effects 0.3                 (0.0)                -                     -                     0.3                 

As of December 31, 2013 (22.1)               (5.7)                (0.1)                -                     (27.9)              

Depreciation (202.8)             (35.5)               (0.7)                -                     (238.9)            

Derecognition 20.7                5.6                 -                     -                     26.4               

Currency effects (114.8)             (19.0)               (0.2)                -                     (134.0)            

As of December 31, 2014 (318.9)             (54.5)               (1.0)                -                     (374.4)            

Carrying amount:

As of December 31, 2013 1,184.0           662.6              199.8              99.8                2,146.1           

As of December 31, 2014 1,196.8           677.4              229.1              81.6                2,184.9           

Useful life 3 - 10 20 - 50 50/Indefinite

Depreciation method Linear Linear Linear N/A

Restated 

NOK million as of December 31 2014 2013

Non-current interest bearing loans to customers 8.3                 11.9                

Non-current interest bearing loans to afiliated companies 467.2              173.6              

Financial derivatives -                     2.4                 

Other 3.1                 5.0                 

Other non-current financial assets 478.5              193.0              
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Note 18: Inventories 
 

 
 
Inventories are measured at the lower of acquisition cost and net realisable value. During 2014 NOK 1.4 million (NOK 6.3 
million during 2013) was recognised in cost of materials as an expense for inventories carried at net realisable value.  
 
 

Note 19: Trade and other receivables 

 
 
Included in provision for doubtful receivables as of December 31, 2014 is an accrual of NOK 57.4 million (USD 7.7 million 
at closing FX rate) for the expected loss from the bankruptcy of Acuinova. For the Group this loss accrual was offset 
against the gain from the negotiated reduction in the deferred consideration to Cermaq. For more details see note 6, 22 
and 23.  
     
The Group’s exposure to credit risks related to accounts receivables from customers is disclosed in note 22. 
 
 

Note 20: Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Restricted cash as of December 31, 2014 was NOK 1.9 million (NOK 1.8 million as of December 31, 2013). The 
restricted cash is related to rental payment deposits provided by EWOS AS. As an alternative to restricted cash deposits, 
the Group purchases bank guarantees to cover employees’ tax deductions, see note 28.  
 
 

Note 21: Interest bearing liabilities 
This note provides information about the contractual terms of the interest bearing liabilities. For an analysis of the 
Group’s exposure to interest rates, foreign currency and liquidity risk, see note 22. For information about pledges and 
guarantees, see note 28. 
 
The following is a summary of our principal financing arrangements:  
 
1) EUR 225.0 million 6.75% Senior Secured Notes and NOK 1,810 million Senior Secured Floating rates Notes 
due 2020 

On October 31, 2013, EWOS Holding AS issued EUR 225 million aggregate principal amount of its euro-denominated 
fixed rate senior secured notes due 2020 (the "EUR Senior Secured Notes") and NOK 1,810 million aggregate principal 
amount of its Norwegian kroner-denominated floating rate senior secured notes due 2020 (the "NOK Senior Secured 
Notes", and together with the EUR Senior Secured Notes, the "Senior Secured Notes"). 
 
The EUR Senior Secured Notes matures on November 1, 2020 and interests accrue at the rate of 6.75% per annum. 
 
The NOK Senior Secured Notes matures on November 1, 2020. Interests accrue at a rate per annum equal to three 
month NIBOR plus 5.00%. 
 
The Senior Secured Notes are redeemable November 1, 2016. Prior to this date, the notes can be redeemed by paying a 
premium. Furthermore, upon certain events defined as constituting a change of control, EWOS Holding AS may be 
required to make an offer to purchase each series of Senior Secured Notes.   
 
 

NOK million as of December 31 2014 2013

Raw materials 1,082.0           811.5              

Work in progress 15.9                16.2                

Finished goods 195.8              135.7              

Total inventories 1,293.8           963.3              

Restated 

NOK million as of December 31 2014 2013

Accounts receivables 1,944.8             1,778.0             

Provisions for doubtful receivables (92.6)                (25.8)                

Prepaid expenses 37.7                 32.7                 

Prepaid public duties 18.1                 12.4                 

Prepaid income tax 3.0                   17.4                 

Financial derivatives 12.6                 0.7                   

Current interest bearing loans to customers and afiliated companies (note 29) 46.5                 4.8                   

Other current receivables 14.0                 33.2                 

Trade and other receivables 1,984.3             1,853.4             
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2) NOK 1,040 million Senior Subordinated Notes 

On October 31, 2013, EWOS Group AS (Albain Midco Norway AS) issued NOK 1,040 million Senior Subordinated Notes 
due November 1, 2021. Interest accrues at a rate per annum equal to three month NIBOR plus 9.20%.  
 
The Senior Subordinated Notes are redeemable November 1, 2016. Prior to this date, the notes can be redeemed by 
paying a premium.  
 
3) NOK 600 million Super Senior Revolving Credit Facility 

On October 10, 2013, EWOS Holding AS entered into a committed NOK 600 million Super Senior Revolving Credit 
Facility Agreement (the "SSRCF"), for use by EWOS Holding AS and its subsidiaries. The SSRCF, which matures on 
November 1, 2019, carries an interest rate on drawings equal to the aggregate of the applicable margin and IBOR, as 
well as a commitment fee on the undrawn amount. The margin will initially be 3.75% per annum for the first twelve 
months and thereafter be subject to a ratchet based on the consolidated leverage ratio. As of December 31, 2014 as well 
as December 31, 2013, the SSRCF was undrawn.  
 
When the SSRCF is drawn down it is subject to certain covenants based on ratios including total net drawings and 
consolidated EBITDA tests. 
 
4) NOK 370.5 million Credit Facility ï converted to equity in 2014 

On October 31, 2013, EWOS Group AS entered into a term facility of NOK 370.5 million with Albain Holdco Norway AS, 
the owner of EWOS Group AS, for financing of the Acquisition. This facility, which was subordinated and unsecured, was 
due on October 31, 2028. The facility accrued an interest of 12.0% per annum.  
 
In March 2014 the loan and related accrued interest of NOK 15.1 million was converted to equity.  
 
The Group’s interest bearing debt is classified as financial liabilities measured at amortised cost adjusted for up front 
arrangement and legal fees. 
  
The Group measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in 
measuring fair value. 
 

¶ Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical financial instruments 

¶ Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for assets or liabilities, 
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices) 

¶ Level 3: Inputs for assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs) 
  
The table below presents the Group's total interest bearing liabilities: 

 
 
1) Term loan provided by Albain Holdco Norway AS of NOK 370.5 million plus interest, total NOK 378 million as of December 31, 

2013. The loan was converted to equity on March 4, 2014.  
2) No amount was drawn on the NOK 600 million SSRCF as of December 31, 2014 or December 31, 2013. 

 

Fair values of Senior Notes are based on quoted prices in an active market where available (level 1 input).  Fair values of 
Senior Notes not traded in an active market are estimated based on the trading level of the Group’s Senior Notes that 
are being traded in an active market.  
 
The fair value of the EUR and NOK Senior Secured Notes has been measured based on level 1 input as of December 
31, 2014, while only the EUR Senior Secured Notes was measured based on level 1 input as of December 31, 2013.  
Due to limited trading, the fair value of the Senior Subordinated Notes has been measured based on level 3 input as of 
December 31, 2014. Both the NOK Senior Secured Notes and the Senior Subordinated Notes were measured based on 
level 3 input as of December 31, 2013 as the notes were not yet listed. Since all the Notes are issued simultaneously as 
part of the same package to finance the Acquisition, the level 3 input to measure fair values of the at the time unlisted 
and limited traded notes are based on the level 1 input (traded prices) for those of the Notes that are traded in an active 
market; i.e. the traded prices for the NOK and EUR Senior Secured Notes as of December 31, 2014 and the EUR Senior 
Secured Notes as of December 31, 2013.  
 
The Senior Notes do not have any financial covenants metrics. The NOK 600 million Super Senior Revolving Credit 
Facility requires the Group to maintain specified financial ratios and to satisfy certain financial conditions tests which 

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair

NOK million as of December 31 amount value amount value

Credit facilities 1) 2) Level 2 -                        -                        378.2                 378.2                 

Senior notes Level 1 3,633.4              3,451.0              1,766.7              1,886.1              

Senior notes Level 3 1,009.9              928.2                 2,703.2              2,850.0              

Non-current financial leases Level 2 0.8                    0.8                    1.7                    1.7                    

Total interest bearing liabilites 4,644.2              4,380.0              4,849.8              5,115.9              

2014 2013
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become more restrictive over the life of the facility. As of December 31, 2014, as well as of December 31, 2013, the 
Group was in compliance with theses financial covenants. 
 
As of December 31, 2014, the average time to maturity of the Group’s debt portfolio is 6.1 years (7.8 years as of 
December 31, 2013).  The Group had total available credit lines and cash (see note 20) of NOK 1.015.6 million (NOK 
1,375.2 million in 2013). 
 
Maturity analysis ï contractual payments (in nominal values): 

 

 
 
In addition, trade and other payables and accrued expenses of NOK 2,236.2 million as of December 31, 2014 and NOK 
1,759.2 million as of December 31, 2013 are contractual payments due within a year. For the calculation of future 
payments beyond the maturity of the hedges, we assume that interest rates will remain at the same level as in the 
hedges which mature in November 2016 and November 2018.  
 
Future interest payments will be additionally affected by interest rate swaps entered into with effect from February, 2015. 
Hedges effective from February 2015 include: 
 

¶ Senior Secured Note with notional amount NOK 1,097.5, accruing interest at 3m NIBOR + 5%. 3m NIBOR rate 
has been fixed at 1.0173% p.a. with termination date November 1, 2018. 

 

¶ Senior Subordinated Note with notional amount NOK 1,040 accruing interest at 3m NIBOR + 9.2%. 3m NIBOR 
rate has been fixed at 0.9952% p.a. with termination date November 1, 2018. 

 
 

Note 22: Financial instruments and risk management 
 

Overview 

The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: market risk, liquidity risk and credit 
risk. This note presents information about the Group’s  exposure to each of these risks, the Group’s objectives, policies 
and procedures for measuring and managing risk, and the Group’ s management of capital. Further quantitative 
disclosures are included throughout these consolidated financial statements.  
 
The main objective of the Group's financial risk management activities is to ensure the ongoing liquidity of the Group, 
defined as being at all times in a position to meet liabilities as they fall due. This also includes being able to meet 
financial covenants on Group debt under normal circumstances. 
 
Group management is in the process of defining financial risk management policies which will be approved by the Board 
of Directors. Policies will cover areas such as funding, foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, insurance 
coverage, use of derivatives and non-derivatives financial instruments and investment of excess liquidity. 
With regards to insurance coverage, the Group insures globally against material risks where the insurance is 
economically available. The balance between the amount covered and what is left to own risk varies depending on the 
nature of the risk, the value of the assets and prospective liabilities and the cost, actual coverage and the availability of 
insurance. 
 
Risk management policies and procedures are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the 
Group’s activities. 

 

NOK million < 1 year 2 years 3 years 4 years 5 years > 5 years Total

As of December 31, 2014 

Senior Notes -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 4,885.4        4,885.4        

Non-current financial leases -                 0.4              0.3              0.1              -                 -                 0.8              

Total interest bearing debt -                 0.4              0.3              0.1              -                 4,885.4        4,886.2        

Furture interest payments 377.1          377.1          377.1          377.1          377.1          430.8          2,316.2        

Total incl interest payments 377.1          377.5          377.4          377.1          377.1          5,316.2        7,202.4        

As of December 31, 2013 

Credit facilities -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 378.2          378.2          

Senior Notes -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 4,469.9        4,469.9        

Non-current financial leases -                 0.9              0.4              0.3              0.1              -                 1.7              

Total interest bearing debt -                 0.9              0.4              0.3              0.1              4,848.1        4,849.8        

Furture interest payments 369.8          369.8          369.8          369.8          369.8          1,061.8        2,910.6        

Total incl interest payments 369.8          370.7          370.2          370.0          369.8          5,909.9        7,760.4        
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Financial instruments by category 

 

 
 

 
 
Methods and assumptions to estimate the fair value of interest bearing debt is described in note 21.  
 
Fair value of currency swaps, foreign currency forward contracts and interest rate swaps is estimated based on 
calculating the net present value of future cash flows, using interest rate curves, exchange rates and currency spreads 
as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. 
 
For trade and other receivables and other non-current financial assets the carrying amount is assessed to be a 
reasonable approximation to fair value. The fair value of cash and cash equivalents is assessed to be equal to the 
nominal amount. For trade and other payables and other non-interest bearing non-current liabilities the carrying amount 
is assessed to be a reasonable approximation to fair value, except for financial derivatives included in these line items 
which are measured at fair value as described above.  
 

Market risk 

Market risk can be defined as the risk for fluctuations in the Group’s income and expenses, future cash flows or fair value 
of financial instruments because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: currency risk, 
interest rates risk and other price risk, such as pricing of listed Senior Notes. Market risk is monitored and actively 
managed by the Group, through a combination of natural hedging techniques and financial derivatives. To a large extent, 
currency and commodity risk is passed on to feed customers by means of contractual price regulations. 
 

Currency risk 

Because of the international nature of its operations, the Group is exposed to fluctuations of foreign currency rates. For 
risk management purposes two types of currency exposure have been identified: 
 
Translational exposure 

Being a multinational Group, we face currency risk arising from the translation of entities whose functional currency 
differs from the presentation currency of the Group. Translational exposure does not give rise to an immediate cash 
effect; however it may impact the Group's financial covenants and is therefore closely monitored. Exposure related to 
equity in foreign subsidiaries is generally not hedged. 
 
 
 

Financial instruments as of December 31, 2014

NOK million

Assets and 

liabilities at fair 

value through 

profit or loss

Loans and 

receivables

Liabilites 

measured at 

amortised cost

Carrying 

amount Fair value

Other non-current financial assets -                     478.5             -                    478.5             478.5             

Trade and other receivables 12.6                1,912.8          -                    1,925.4          1,925.4          

Cash and cash equivalents -                     417.7             -                    417.7             417.7             

Total financial assets 12.6                2,809.0          -                    2,821.6          2,821.6          

Interest bearing non-current liabilities -                     -                    4,643.4          4,643.4          4,379.2          

Other non interest bearing non-current liabilities 29.5                -                    88.5               118.0             118.0             

Trade and other payables -                     -                    1,986.3          1,986.3          1,986.3          

Current non interest bearing liabilities 5.0                  -                    249.9             254.9             254.9             

Total financial liabilities 34.5                -                    6,968.1          7,002.6          6,738.5          

Financial instruments as of December 31, 2013

NOK million

Assets and 

liabilities at fair 

value through 

profit or loss

Loans and 

receivables

Liabilites 

measured at 

amortised cost

Carrying 

amount Fair value

Other non-current financial assets (Restated) 2.4                  190.5             -                    193.0             193.0             

Trade and other receivables (Restated) 0.7                  1,790.2          -                    1,790.9          1,790.9          

Cash and cash equivalents -                     777.0             -                    777.0             777.0             

Total financial assets (Restated) 3.2                  2,757.6          -                    2,760.8          2,760.8          

Interest bearing non-current liabilities -                     -                    4,848.1          4,848.1          5,114.2          

Other non interest bearing non-current liabilities 1.9                  -                    11.4               13.3               13.3               

Trade and other payables -                     -                    1,489.8          1,489.8          1,489.8          

Current non interest bearing liabilities 4.8                  -                    442.5             447.3             447.3             

Total financial liabilities 6.7                  -                    6,791.8          6,798.5          7,064.6          
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Transactional exposure 

The Group is exposed to changes in the domestic value received or paid under foreign currency denominated committed 
transactions primarily in USD and EUR. Exposure arises as a consequence of the Group’s business model, with feed 
being sold almost exclusively to customers in their local currency, while most raw materials are sourced in the 
international commodities markets. Transactional exposure for the Group is mitigated by price adjustment clauses in feed 
supply contracts.   
 
The table below summarises the foreign currency exposure on the net monetary position of all Group’s entities against 
their functional currency. The exposure on translating the financial statements of the Group’s entities into the 
presentation currency is not included in the analysis. 
  
Exposure to currency risk 

 
 
Sensitivity analysis 

 
 
The analysis is based on the currencies the Group is most exposed to as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 
2013. The reasonable shifts in exchange rates in the table above are based on 5 years historical volatility. If the relevant 
cross foreign exchange rates moved by the amounts shown in the table above, the effect on the Group’s net income 
would be NOK 86.5 million in 2014 and NOK 94.8 million in 2013. 
 
Foreign currency derivatives 

As stated above, many of our feed contracts permit us to adjust, at the beginning of the quarter, the price we charge to 
our customers to reflect changing currency rates when we purchase raw materials. We hedge, in the currency exchange 
markets, exposure to such changing currency rates prior to the inception of a quarter for the anticipated volumes of raw 
materials needed during such quarter. However, we do not hedge raw material price variation during a quarter.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

NOK million

As of December 31, 2014 NOK/EUR NOK/USD NOK/GBP GBP/EUR USD/CLP 

Cash and cash equivalents 11.9                 33.7                 69.8                 -                      2.5                  

Accounts receivable 0.8                  4.5                  3.5                  16.3                 2.4                  

Accounts payable (96.4)                (474.9)              (42.5)                (21.3)                (83.5)                

Borrowing (interest bearing debt) (1,923.2)           -                      -                      -                      -                      

Forward contracts 106.7               342.2               59.0                 9.0                  32.9                 

Net Exposure (1,900.2)           (94.6)                89.9                 4.0                  (45.7)                

As of December 31, 2013 NOK/EUR NOK/USD GBP/USD GBP/EUR USD/CLP 

Cash and cash equivalents 32.3                 20.6                 8.5                  5.0                  0.1                  

Accounts receivable (3.3)                 1.6                  -                      19.8                 2.1                  

Accounts payable (166.5)              (170.3)              (12.0)                (10.5)                (56.6)                

Borrowing (interest bearing debt) (1,771.9)           -                      -                      -                      -                      

Forward contracts 193.6               176.4               49.3                 -                      33.8                 

Net Exposure (1,715.8)           28.3                 45.8                 14.2                 (20.6)                

NOK million

Income

2014 NOK/EUR NOK/USD NOK/GBP GBP/EUR USD/CLP Statement 

Net Exposure (1,900.2)      (94.6)          89.9           4.0             (45.7)          

Volatility 4 % 5 % 6 % 4 % 7 %

Effect on Income Statement of - movements (83.4)          (5.1)            5.2             0.1             (3.4)            (86.5)          

Effect on Income Statement of + movements 83.4           5.1             (5.2)            (0.1)            3.4             86.5           

Income

2013 NOK/EUR NOK/USD GBP/USD GBP/EUR USD/CLP Statement 

Net Exposure (1,715.8)      28.3           45.8           14.2           (20.6)          

Volatility 6 % 6 % 4 % 4 % 7 %

Effect on Income Statement of - movements (97.4)          1.6             1.8             0.6             (1.5)            (94.8)          

Effect on Income Statement of + movements 97.4           (1.6)            (1.8)            (0.6)            1.5             94.8           
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Currency forward hedging 

 
 
The fair value of all currency hedging derivatives as of December 31, 2014 was negative and amounted to NOK 5.0 
million (NOK 4.8 million as of December 31, 2013). These financial derivatives are not hedging instruments that qualify 
for hedge accounting, and changes in fair value of these instruments are reported as net gain or loss through profit and 
loss.  
 
Economic currency exposure 

The Group is exposed to the risk that medium/long-term trend shifts in exchange rates might affect its competitive 
position. This strategic currency exposure is regularly monitored, but as the exposure is currently considered limited it is 
not actively hedged. 
 

Interest rates risk 

Borrowings under the NOK Senior Secured Notes, the Senior Subordinated Notes and the Super Senior Revolving 
Credit Facility Agreement, bear interest at floating rates of interest per annum equal to NIBOR, EURIBOR and similar 
benchmarks plus a margin. These interest rates could raise significantly in the future thereby increasing our interest 
expense and reducing net income and our cash flow. An increased cost of borrowing might adversely affect the Group’s 
leverage ratio Net Debt /EBITDA. 
 
The table below shows the Group’s interest bearing debt split by currency, as well as average interest rates and the 
average time until the next interest rate adjustments. 
 

 
 
As per December 31, 2014, the Group had one interest rate swap agreement and one interest cap agreement, with an 
underlying total nominal value of NOK 1,425 million, thus reducing interest rate exposure for NOK Senior Secured Notes. 
The premium for the interest rate cap has not been paid, but has been embedded in the interest rate of 2.045% for the 
interest rate swap. The Group also had a cross currency swap where part of the coupon only was swapped from EUR to 
USD.  
 
These financial derivatives do not qualify for hedge accounting, and changes in fair value of these instruments are 
recognised in profit and loss.  
 
To further reduce the exposure, the Group entered in January 2015 into two new interest rate swap agreements, with an 
underlying total nominal value of NOK 2,137.5 million. Following these contracts the Group has as of February 2015 
hedged the interest rate risk for both NOK Senior Secured Notes and NOK Senior Subordinated Notes, thus hedging the 
floating rate exposure.  
 

 
 
  

NOK million 2014 2013 NOK million 2014 2013

NOK 59.0                   -                        NOK 422.5                 373.6                 

USD 45.9                   37.1                   USD 4.4                     5.5                     

EUR 12.8                   23.1                   GBP 6.1                     5.0                     

CLP 2,683.2              2,923.2              

EWOS sellsEWOS buys

NOK million as of December 31

Loan portfolio by currency

Fixing of base 

interest rates

Interest          

bearing debt

Interest            

rate

Interest          

bearing debt

Interest            

rate

EUR Fixed 1,923.2            6.75 % 1,766.7            6.75 %

NOK 3 months 2,721.9            8.14 % 3,084.0            8.78 %

Interest bearing debt 4,645.1            4,850.7            

2014 2013

NOK million

Currency Amount Pay Receive Start Maturity

NOK 1,040.0      fixed 0.9952% 3M Nibor February 2, 2015 November 1, 2018

NOK 1,097.5      fixed 1.0173% 3M Nibor February 2, 2015 November 1, 2018
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Sensitivity analysis for interest rate instruments 

 
 
Sensitivity of change in fair value and effect on interest expense from floating rate borrowings are calculated based on 
100 basis point increase and decrease in interest rate at the reporting date. The simulation only takes into consideration 
significant interest bearing position. A 100 basis points increase in interest rate would have a negative impact due to 
interest expense of NOK 21.7 million and an impact on the fair value of the financial instruments of NOK 14.5 million. All 
changes would be reported as net gain or loss through the income statement.  
 
Fair value of these instruments have been measured based on level 2 inputs; Inputs other than quoted prices included 
within Level 1 that are observable for assets or liabilities (same interest level, credit standing, maturity). 
 

 
 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk arises from the Group's potential inability to meet its financial obligations towards suppliers and debt capital 
providers. The majority of the Group’s debt is related to the issuance of the EUR Senior Secured Notes and the NOK 
Senior Secured Notes (due November 1, 2020), as well as the NOK Senior Subordinated Notes (due November 1, 
2021), in connection with the acquisition of the EWOS Business in 2013. As a consequence, the Group has become 
highly leveraged, and will require a significant amount of cash to meet its obligations and to sustain its operations.  
 
Servicing the debt is dependent upon cash flow generated from operational activities. Management monitors rolling 
forecasts of the group’s liquidity reserves (comprising of undrawn credit facilities and cash and cash equivalents) on the 
basis of expected cash flow. This is generally carried out at local level in the operating companies of the Group, but 
closely followed by group management on a regular basis.  
 
The Group maintains flexibility in funding by having secured a committed Super Senior Revolving Credit Facility of NOK 
600 million provided by European banks, and through maintaining sufficient liquid assets with the same relationship 
banks. The Group’s liquid assets as of December 31, 2014 (see note 20) included NOK 417.7 million of cash and cash 
equivalents held in various currencies. 
 
See note 21 for information on committed credit facilities, available credit lines and maturity of interest bearing debt.  
 
In addition to the above described sources of liquidity, the Group monitors funding options available in the capital 
markets, as well as trends in the availability and cost of such funding with a view to maintain financial flexibility and 
limiting refinancing risk.  
 

Credit risk 

Credit risk represents the accounting loss that would have to be recognised if other parties failed to perform as 
contracted and is related to financial instruments such as cash and cash equivalents, receivables and derivative financial 
instruments.  
 

NOK million

100 BPS 

increase

100 BPS 

decrease

100 BPS 

increase

100 BPS 

decrease

2014 

Variable rate instruments (28.9)            28.9                 -                       -                       

Interest rate swap 7.2               (7.2)                  11.8                 (11.8)                

Cross currency swap, coupon only -                  -                       2.7                   (2.7)                  

Interest Rate Sensitivity 2014 (21.7)            21.7                 14.5                 (14.5)                

2013 

Variable rate instruments (27.1)            27.1                 -                       -                       

Interest rate swap 7.1               (7.1)                  18.7                 (18.7)                

Cross currency swap, coupon only -                  -                       3.4                   (3.4)                  

Interest Rate Sensitivity 2013 (20.0)            20.0                 22.1                 (22.1)                

Interest expense impact        Fair value impact

In million as of December 31

Instrument Currency

Amount in 

currency Pay Receive Start Maturity

Fair value 

2014

Fair value 

2013

Interest rate Swap NOK 712.5          fixed 2.045% 3M Nibor October 2013 November 2016 (13.0)          (2.4)           

Interest rate CAP NOK 712.5          fixed 3.000% 3M Nibor October 2013 November 2016 0.0            2.4            

USD 76.8            fixed 6.865%

EUR 56.3            fixed 6.75%
Cross currency swap (16.5)          0.5            

NOK

October 2013 November 2018
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The Group focuses on detailed credit management in operating companies, supported by regular follow up by Group 
central functions. The Managing Directors of each operating company are responsible for granting credit limits to the 
individual operating units.  
 
Concentration of credit risk is at the outset not considered significant since the Group customers are located in different 
geographic areas. The operating companies purchase credit insurance where appropriate, and in some cases demand 
parent company guarantees or other securities such as pledges on biological assets, thus reducing the actual risk on 
outstanding receivables significantly. To further mitigate credit risk, a policy has been implemented under which 
operating units may sell part of their receivables on a non-recourse basis.   
 
The Group has been involved in a debt collection case against two major customers in Chile, Acuinova and Nova Austral 
S.A. In connection with Nova Austral S.A. being acquired by an Albain Holdco Norway affiliate in 2014, overdue 
receivables of USD 35.9 million was converted to a long term subordinated loan which is due in full with accumulated 
interest on October 22, 2019. The Group’s total exposure on Nova Austral as of December 31, 2014 was NOK 473.3 
million in a combination of the subordinated loan, short term bridge loan and new feed receivables. The exposure is 
reduced in early 2015 as USD 14 million has been paid from Nova Austral to fully settle the bridge loan and pay down 
feed receivables. For further information see note 29.   
 
On September 15, 2014 Marine Harvest announced the purchase of the Acuinova assets from the bankruptcy trustee 
and EWOS will in the short term continue to provide feed to this operation. EWOS’s exposure in regards to overdue feed 
receivables has been significantly reduced after receiving cash settlement for secured claims of USD 19.5 million from 
the Acuinova bankruptcy estate and credit insurers in February 2015, while some unsecured claims have still not been 
settled. An estimated loss of NOK 48.5 million (USD 7.7 million at average rate) has been recognised as other expenses 
in 2014. See note 6 and 11.  
 
Counterparty risk against financial institutions is not considered significant due to limited liquid assets and low traded 
volume in derivatives. For these transactions, the Group relies mostly upon Nordic relationship banks, other relationship 
banks or widely recognised commodity exchanges. 
 
The carrying amount of financial instruments represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit 
risk is shown below. 
 
Exposure to Credit Risk 

 
 
1) Receivables more than one year past due mostly consist of  Acuinova receivables that has been settled in early 2015 by the 

Acuinova bankruptcy estate and credit insurers 
2) Includes the estimated loss accrual on Acuinova receivables of NOK 57.4 million (USD 7.7 million at closing FX rate) as of 

December 31, 2014 

 
The Group has implemented a Group-wide cash management policy with the overall objective of minimising cash 
holdings while ensuring sufficient liquidity to meet business needs, avoid shortage of cash and limit the need for 
borrowing.  
 

Restated

NOK million as of December 31 2014 2013

Exposure to credit risk: 

Non-current interest bearing loans to other customers 8.3                         11.9                        

Non-current interest bearing loans to afiliated companies 467.2                      173.6                      

Current interest bearing loans to customers and afiliated companies 46.5                        4.8                         

Accounts receivables 1,944.8                   1,778.0                   

Cash and cash equivalents 417.7                      777.0                      

Total exposure to credit risk 2,884.4                   2,745.3                   

Aging of accounts receivables:

Not past due 1,458.6                   1,587.9                   

Past due:  393.7                      164.3                      

0-3 months 216.7                     161.3                     more than 3 

months 17.8                       3.0                         

more than 1 year 1) 159.2                     -                            

Total accounts receivable (net of provision for bad debt) 1,852.3                   1,752.2                   

Specification of provision for bad debt:

Provision at beginning of year 25.8                        -                             

Change in provision during the year 2) 52.2                        -                             

Companies acquired -                             25.8                        

Currency effects 2) (14.5)                       (0.1)                        

Provision at end of year 92.6                        25.8                        
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The Group does not make extensive use of financial derivatives and in those cases where it is deemed appropriate to 
hedge an existing exposure on the financial markets, agreements are entered into with one of the Business’ relationships 
banks.  
 

Capital Management  

The Group’s objectives are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for 
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of 
capital. 
 
As a result of the Acquisition and financing thereof, the Group is highly geared. Management believes that it can operate 
with a highly geared structure due to fact that volatility in the fish nutrition industry is considerably less than in the fish 
farming segment. Furthermore, the Group has a high focus on cash generation. In order to maintain or adjust the capital 
structure, the Group may reduce or delay its business activities or capital expenditures or sell assets or raise additional 
equity or reduce debt.  
 
The Senior Secured Notes and the Senior Subordinated Notes restricts our ability to make certain payments, including 
dividends or other distributions with respect to the shares of EWOS Group AS or its restricted subsidiaries. The Group’s 
key financial metrics are related to ratios of consolidated net interest bearing debt as a multiple of EBITDA: 
 

¶ Net Total Debt / Last twelve months Adjusted EBITDA 

¶ Net Senior Secured Debt / Last twelve months Adjusted EBITDA 

 
 

Note 23: Other non interest bearing non-current liabilities 
 

 
 
The deferred consideration to Cermaq was on October 15, 2014 reclassified from a short term contingent liability to a 
long term deferred consideration based on an agreement with Cermaq to settle the contingent consideration of up to 
NOK 180 million arising from the purchase of EWOS from Cermaq in 2013 with a NOK 100 million payment to Cermaq in 
two equal instalments due on December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2017. Net present value of the liability on 
December 31, 2014 was NOK 88.5 million. Net present value of the contingent consideration that was included in 
Provisions as of December 31, 2013 was NOK 173.1 million, see note 22 and 24. For information about the fair value of 
financial instruments see note 21. 
 
 

Note 24: Trade and other payables  
 
Included in trade and other payables are liabilities subject to supply chain finance arrangements which enable suppliers 
to maintain or extend the payment terms offered. As of December 31, 2014 payables of NOK 234.1 million was subject to 
such arrangements (NOK 167.8 million as of December 31, 2013). Supplier credit days in 2014 were 60 days (54 days in 
2013).  
 
 

Note 25: Current non interest bearing liabilities 
 

 
 
Accrued expenses are mainly related to holiday pay and bonuses as well as other operational accruals. 
 
  

NOK million 2014 2013

Derivative financial instruments 29.5                1.9                 

Deferred consideration to Cermaq 88.5                -                    

Other -                     11.4               

Other non-current non-interest bearing liabilites 118.0              13.3               

NOK in millions per December 31 2014 2013

Social security, taxes and VAT 38.3                48.2               

Income taxes 20.8                10.6               

Accrued expenses 249.9              269.4             

Contingent consideration to Cermaq -                     173.1             

Other current liabilities 5.5                 29.5               

Current non interest bearing liabilities 314.5              530.8             
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In 2014, the contingent consideration to Cermaq has been settled through an agreement to pay a deferred consideration. 
As the consideration is payable more than twelve months from the balance sheet date, the liability is reclassified as other 
non-current non-interest bearing liabilities, see further description in note 6 and note 23.   
 
The Group’s exposure to currency and liquidity risk related to trade and other payables is disclosed in note 22. 
 
 

Note 26: Provisions and contingent liabilities 
 
Included in provisions as of December 31, 2014 is an estimated liability of NOK 33.1 million and as of December 2013 
NOK 18.5 million related to a claim by the Norwegian tax authorities that the Norwegian operations have benefitted from 
certain tax refunds in violation of Norwegian tax laws in connection with fuel deliveries. The claim has not yet been 
settled as the matter is under investigation of the Norwegian National Authority for Investigation and Prosecution of 
Economic and Environmental Crime (ØKOKRIM). Further details and events after the reporting period are described in 
note 31.   
 
On March 25, 2014, EWOS Chile Alimentos Ltda. and Mainstream Chile S.A. (a company owned by Cermaq ASA) were 
sued as joint and severally liable parties before the Civil Court of Puerto Mont in Chile by the former owners of Cutivos 
Marinos Chiloé S.A. In the suit, Mainstream Chile S.A. is accused of having conducted the purchase process of Cutivos 
Marinos Chiloé S.A. in bad faith with the purpose of reducing the price of the company, while EWOS Chile Alimentos 
Ltda. is accused of having colluded with Mainstream Chile S.A. in abusively initiating legal actions to recover overdue 
payments owed to EWOS Chile Alimentos Ltda. by Cutivos Marinos Chiloé S.A. in order to pressure the former owners 
of Cutivos Marinos Chiloé S.A. into accepting a reduced purchase price for the sale of Cutivos Marinos Chiloé S.A. to 
Mainstream Chile S.A. The amount of the claim is USD 85 million. The Group denies any merit to this claim and intends 
to defend this position vigorously. The amount of any liability or expenses, if any, from these legal proceedings and any 
related impacts cannot be determined with certainty; however, we believe that the ultimate costs, liability and impacts, if 
any, should not be material to the business, financial condition or results of operations of the Group. 
 
 

Note 27: Commitments 
 
The Group has entered into agreements with fixed payments in respect of the following as at December 31, 2014 and as 
of December 31, 2013: 
 

 
 
Minimum lease payments are related to time charter contracts on feed vessels, in addition to office buildings and 
equipment. Contractual purchases of goods and services are mainly related to raw material purchase commitments. 
 
 

Note 28: Pledges and guarantees 
 
Purchased bank guarantees as of December 31, 2014 was NOK 15.8 million (NOK 13.8 million as of December 31, 
2013) and are issued by Danske Bank as guarantee for employees’ withholding taxes in Norway.   
 
The Senior Secured Notes, the Senior Subordinated Notes and the Super Senior Revolving Credit Facility (the ‘SSRCF’) 
are guaranteed by the subsidiaries Albain Bidco UK Limited, EWOS AS, Statkorn Aqua AS, EWOS limited, EWOS Chile 
Alimentos Ltda., and EWOS Canada Ltd (collectively the ‘Guarantors’). In addition the Super Senior Revolving Credit 
Facility is guaranteed by the subsidiary EWOS Holding AS. 
 

2014

NOK million 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 After 2019

Minimum lease payments under non-

cancellable operating leases 
201.5            136.0            125.0            127.1            124.7            291.1            

Contractual purchase obligations 2,597.5         69.2              7.1                1.3                -                   -                   

Comitted investments 22.3              -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   

Total contractual obligations 2,821.3         205.1            132.1            128.4            124.7            291.1            

2013

NOK million 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 After 2018

Minimum lease payments under non-

cancellable operating leases 
229.9            179.7            132.7            119.8            119.8            399.6            

Contractual purchase obligations 1,765.4         21.6              -                   -                   -                   -                   

Comitted investments 18.7              -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   

Total contractual obligations 2,014.0         201.4            132.7            119.8            119.8            399.6            
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The Senior Secured Notes are secured by way of security over all assets of EWOS Holding and the Guarantors, 
including shares, intercompany, fixed and operational assets. The Senior Subordinated Notes are secured by way of 
security interest over all shares of EWOS Group AS, EWOS Holding AS and EWOS AS.  Furthermore, there are 
limitations over asset dispositions which require certain criteria to be met, before group companies can dispose of assets 
that are offered as security.  
 
The SSRCF is subject to certain covenants, based on ratios including total net drawings and consolidated EBITDA tests 
when the SSRCF is drawn down. As of December 31, 2014, as well as of December 31, 2013, the SSRCF is undrawn 
but has been used as guarantee for payroll taxes. 
 
 

Note 29: Transactions with related parties 
 
The following is an overview of transactions with related parties: 

 
 
As announced on October 23, 2014 a company under common control has completed the acquisition of Nova Austral 
S.A. from Acuinova Chile S.A. and Pesca Chile S.A. The Group have supported the transaction with NOK 169.2 million 
of excess cash on its balance sheet and the rollover of USD 35.9 million of the outstanding receivables. These feed 
payables are due in full with accumulated interest on October 22, 2019. By supporting the acquisition of Nova Austral, 
EWOS will be able to help one of its important customers return to operating at its full potential. Nova Austral will 
continue to operate as an independent company, with EWOS supplying feed on commercial terms. EWOS’ total 
exposure to Nova Austral as of December 31, 2014 was USD 63.5 million in a combination of the long term receivable, 
short term bridge loan and new feed receivables. The exposure is reduced in early 2015 as USD 14 million has been 
paid from Nova Austral to fully settle the bridge loan and pay down feed receivables. 
 
The Nova Austral acquisition is made outside of the listed bond group. Nova Austral is majority owned by a Norwegian 
subsidiary of EWOS’s ultimate Norwegian parent company, Albain Holdco Norway AS (Holdco). As such, Nova Austral 
operations will not be consolidated into the reporting of either EWOS Group AS or EWOS Holding AS, the two 
companies with listed bonds on either the Oslo Stock Exchange or the Irish Stock Exchange. Statkorn Aqua AS, an 
indirect subsidiary of the above companies with listed bonds, purchased less than 1% stake in Nova Austral S.A. in order 
to comply with Chilean legal requirements that a limited liability company must have at least two shareholders. 
 
In 2013 a receivable incurred from a gain of NOK 173.6 million from currency forward contracts that were entered into in 
2013 with Albain Finco S.À R.L. in relation to the closing of the acquisition of the EWOS Business in October 2013. The 
outstanding receivable together with accrued interest has been formalised as a long term loan due on November 30, 
2021 carrying an interest of 12.0% per annum. Albain Finco S.À R.L.'s only major asset is a loan receivable on Albain 
Holdco Norway AS of 433.5 NOK million which is due on October 31, 2028. The Group, Albain Finco S.À R.L. and Albain 
Holdco Norway AS are under common control of Altor and Bain Capital. For more details see note 4 and 12.  

In 2013, EWOS Group AS received a loan of NOK 370.5 million from Albain Holdco Norway AS, which is the owner of 
EWOS Group AS, carrying an interest rate of 12.0% per annum. In 2014 the loan was converted to equity, see note 21 
and 30. 
 
All transactions with related parties are priced on an arm’s length basis and there are no specific conditions. 
Transactions with subsidiaries have been eliminated in the Group financial statements and do not represent related party 
transactions.  
 

  

Restated 

NOK million 2014 2013

Altor Equity Partners Ultimate owner Advisory fees 8.8                 -                     

Bain Capital Partners Ultimate owner Advisory fees 11.4                1.4                 

Bain Capital Europe LLP Ultimate owner Transaction advisory fees -                     24.9                

Altor Fund III GP Ltd Ultimate owner Transaction advisory fees -                     33.4                

Acatos Consulting AS (Eivind Reiten) Board member Advisory fees 2.0                 -                     

Rosøy AS (Yngve Myhre) Board member Advisory fees 1.0                 -                     

Artic Ocean AS Associated company Services received 8.5                 2.0                 

Feed Tromsø AS Associated company Services received 5.8                 1.7                 

Nova Austral S.A. Afiliated company Sale of feed 50.3                -                     

Nova Austral S.A. Afiliated company Interest income 4.4                 -                     

Nova Austral S.A. Afiliated company Interest bearing long term receivable 272.7              -                     

Nova Austral S.A. Afiliated company Interest bearing short term receivable 41.0                -                     

Nova Austral S.A. Afiliated company Accounts receivable 159.6              -                     

Albain Finco S.a.r.l Afiliated company Interest income 21.3                3.5                 

Albain Finco S.a.r.l Afiliated company Interest bearing long term receivable 194.5              173.6              
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Note 30: Share information  
 
Share capital 

The share capital of EWOS Group AS was as of December 31, 2014 NOK 277,731,092 divided into 164,282,269 shares, 
each with a nominal value of NOK 1.690572533. 
 
On March 4, 2014, the share capital of EWOS Group AS (the parent) was increased by NOK 113,448,823 from NOK 
164,282,269 to NOK 277,731,092 by increasing the nominal value of the shares by NOK 0.690572533 from NOK 1 to 
NOK 1.690572533. The share contribution amount was settled by way of converting a receivable of NOK 370,489,051 
and interest of NOK 15,103,773, in the aggregate amount of NOK 385,592,824, due to its sole shareholder Albain 
Holdco Norway AS 
 
Shareholders 

The owner of 100% of the shares in EWOS Group AS is Albain Holdco Norway AS. 97.7% of the shares in Albain Holdco 
Norway AS are owned by Albain Holdco S.à.r.l (Luxembourg). Funds advised by Altor Fund III P Limited and Bain 
Capital Europe, LLP own Albain Holdco S.à.r.l. with 50% each. 
 
 

Note 31: Events after the reporting period 
 
Sale of fish farming licenses 

EWOS owns two commercial fish farming licences in Norway which are operated in cooperation with an external party. 
An agreement has been entered into to sell these licenses with expected closing of the transaction in the second quarter 
of 2015. The licenses are classified as Assets held for sale in the Statement of financial position as of December 31, 
2014.   
 
Special tax compliance issue 

In August 2013 it was discovered through an audit by the Norwegian Customs that EWOS wrongfully had claimed refund 
for special taxes related to mineral oil. The matter is now under investigation by the Norwegian National Authority for 
Investigation and Prosecution of Economic and Environmental Crime (ØKOKRIM). On March 11, 2015 they made an 
unannounced visit to several EWOS office locations in Norway and presented an indictment for violating section 2 of the 
Special Tax Act.  
 
Mineral oil is bunker oil that EWOS is reselling to fish farming barges, as an additional service provided in connection 
with delivery of feed to these barges.  
 
After the audit in 2013, EWOS has in cooperation with the Customs authority implemented new routines for handling of 
the special taxes. EWOS has had an open dialogue with the Norwegian Customs on this issue and are now cooperating 
with ØKOKRIM by providing any information relevant for the investigation.  
 
A provision of NOK 33.1 million is recognised in the financial statement as of December 31, 2014 which is based on an 
estimated payment including unpaid taxes going ten years back, plus interest and estimated penalties. The provision was 
NOK 18.5 million as of December 31, 2013 which was based on an estimated payment including unpaid taxes going 
three years back, plus interest and estimated penalties. The provision is based on management’s best estimate, and the 
final payment amount will not be known until the issue is resolved with the relevant authorities.  
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PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

Statement of income  
 

 

 

 

 

Statement of other comprehensive income  
 

 
 

  

EWOS Group AS

NOK million for the period ended December 31 Note 2014 2013

Other operating expenses 3 (1.2)                       -                                

Operating result (1.2)                       -                                

Financial income 4 7.5                        7.7                             

Financial expenses 4 (128.7)                   (27.5)                         

Net foreign exchange gain (loss) (0.2)                       -                                

Financial items, net (121.3)                   (19.8)                         

Income (loss) before taxes (122.5)                   (19.8)                         

Income taxes 5 33.1                      5.4                             

Net income (loss) (89.4)                     (14.5)                         

EWOS Group AS

NOK million for the period ended December 31 Note 2014 2013

Net income (loss) (89.4)                     (14.5)                         

Other comprehensive income -                            -                                

Total comprehensive income (89.4)                     (14.5)                         

Attributable to:

Shareholders of the company (89.4)                     (14.5)                         
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Statement of financial position  

 

 
 

Oslo, April 22, 2015 

 
 
 

Hugo Lund Maurstad 
Chairman of the Board 

(sign.) 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Stuart J. A. Gent 
Director 
(sign.) 

 
 

Edward John Han 
Director 
(sign.) 

 
 

Klas Erik Johansson 
Director 
(sign.) 

 
 

Yngve Myhre 
Director 
(sign.) 

 
 

Dwight Mac Vicar Poler 
Director 
(sign.) 

 
 

Eivind Kristofer Reiten 
Director 
(sign.) 

 
 

Dean Zuzic 
Director 
(sign.) 

 

 
 

Einar Wathne 
Chief Executive Officer 

(sign.)  

 

  

EWOS Group AS

December 31, December 31,

NOK million Note 2014 2013

ASSETS

Deferred tax assets 5 38.4                         5.4                           

Investments in subsidiaries 6 2,835.5                    2,652.2                    

Non-current interest-bearing receivables Group companies 8 -                               378.2                       

Total non-current assets 2,873.9                    3,035.7                    

Other current financial assets 0.3                           -                               

Cash and cash equivalents 7 0.1                           0.1                           

Total current assets 0.4                           0.1                           

Total Assets 2,874.2                    3,035.8                    

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity 10 1,753.2                    1,626.2                    

Interest bearing non-current liabilities Parent company 8 -                               378.2                       

Interest bearing non-current liabilities external 11 1,009.9                    1,006.3                    

Total non-current liabilities 1,009.9                    1,384.4                    

Accounts payables Group companies 0.1                           -                               

Interest bearing current liabilities Group companies 13 91.7                         -                               

Other current liabilities 19.3                         25.1                         

Total current liabilities 111.1                       25.1                         

Total equity and liabilities 2,874.2                    3,035.8                    
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Statement of cash flow  
 

 
 

 

  

EWOS Group AS

NOK million Note 2014 2013

Net income(loss) before taxes (122.5)                    (19.8)                         

Foreign exchange (gain) loss not relating to operating activities 0.2                          -                                

Net interest expense and other financial income 4 121.1                      19.8                          

Change in inventory, accounts receivable and accounts payable (0.3)                        -                                

Change in other current operating assets and liabilities (1.6)                        -                                

Net cash flow from operating activities (3.1)                        -                                

Acquisition of subsidiaries 6 -                             (2,652.2)                    

Distribution from subsidiaries 6 169.2                      -                                

Net cash flow from investing activities 169.2                      (2,652.2)                    

Proceeds from borrowings 118.4                      1,382.1                     

Payment of borrowings -                             (370.5)                       

Interest paid (115.1)                    -                                

Payments related to other financial items (0.1)                        -                                

Proceeds from issue of equity -                             1,640.7                     

Repayment of equity to owner of EWOS Group AS (169.2)                    -                                

Net cash flow from financing activities (166.2)                    2,652.3                     

Net change in cash and cash equivalents for the period (0.0)                        0.1                            

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 0.1                          -                                

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 0.1                          0.1                            

For the year ended December 31,
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Statement of changes in equity  

 

 
 

  

EWOS Group AS

NOK million

Share       

Capital

Share        

premium

Total Paid in 

Capital

Retained 

Earnings

Total          

equity

Equity as of June 24, 2013 0.1                0.0                0.1                -                    0.1                 

Net income (loss) for the period -                    -                    -                    (14.5)              (14.5)              

Other comprehensive income -                    -                    -                    -                    -                     

Total comprehensive income -                    -                    -                    (14.5)              (14.5)              

Capital reduction October 31, 2013 (0.1)               -                    (0.1)               -                    (0.1)                

Capital increase October 31, 2013 164.3             1,476.4          1,640.7          -                    1,640.7           

Equity as of December 31, 2013 164.3             1,476.4          1,640.7          (14.5)              1,626.2           

Net income (loss) for the period -                    -                    -                    (89.4)              (89.4)              

Other comprehensive income -                    -                    -                    -                    -                     

Total comprehensive income -                    -                    -                    (89.4)              (89.4)              

Convertion of debt to equity March 4, 2014 113.4             272.1             385.6             -                    385.6              

Distribution of paid in capital October 22, 2014 -                    (169.2)            (169.2)            -                    (169.2)             

Net losses charged to Share premium -                    (103.9)            (103.9)            103.9             -                     

Equity as of December 31, 2014 277.7             1,475.4          1,753.2          0.0                1,753.2           
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NOTES TO THE PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
Note 1: General information and accounting principles  
 
The company has in 2014 changed its corporate name from Albain Midco Norway AS to EWOS Group AS. EWOS Group 
AS (the “Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated in Norway with head office in Bergen. EWOS Group AS is 
through its subsidiaries engaged in the production of feed and nutrition for the international aquaculture industry.  

Statement of compliance 

The financial statements have been prepared based on “simplified” IFRS in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting 
Act and accompanying regulations (FOR-2008-01-21-57) with the described basis for preparation. “Simplified” IFRS 
require most of the recognition and measurements are in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU.  

The Company uses the exception in “simplified” IFRS which allows dividends and group contributions to be recognised in 
accordance with Norwegian GAAP. In accordance with § 3-1 (4) in this regulation the IAS 10, 12 and 13 and IAS 18 
paragraph 30 may be waived so that dividends and group contributions are recognised in accordance with Norwegian 
GAAP. 

Accordingly income from group contribution from subsidiaries is recognised in the income statement in the same period 
as it is declared and accrued for by the subsidiary. The same principle applies to group contribution received. 

The separate financial statements of the Company were approved by its board of Directors on April 22, 2015. 

Accounting principles 

Investments in subsidiaries and associates 

Investment in subsidiaries and associates are accounted for at cost. 
The fair value of the Company’s investments in subsidiaries and associated companies may vary over time, and is 
therefore reviewed for potential impairment. Fair value assessment will be affected by many factors, such as 
expectations of future earnings, specific branch conditions, owner shares, shareholder structure, but also macro 
conditions which are not directly related to the individual company. For quoted investments, current bid prices will be 
considered as one of several objective criteria in the fair value assessment. If the impairment test indicates that fair value 
is significantly lower than carrying amount and the situation is expected to persist, an impairment loss is recognised for 
the amount the carrying value exceeds the recoverable amount. Impairments may be reversed at a later reporting date. 

Interest income 

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method. 

Classification principles 

Liquid assets are defined as cash and bank deposits. Current assets and current liabilities consist of receivables and 
payables due within one year. Other balance sheet items are classified as property, plant and equipment / non-current 
liabilities. 

Foreign currency translation 

The Company’s functional currency and presentation currency is Norwegian Kroner. 

Transactions in foreign currency are translated into the functional currency at the rate applicable at the transaction date. 
Monetary items in a foreign currency are translated into functional currency using the exchange rate applicable on the 
balance sheet date.  

Accounts receivables 

Trade receivables and other current and non-current receivables are initially recognised at fair value plus any transaction 
cost.  The receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, if the 
amortisation effects are material, less provision for impairment. Other current and non-current receivables include 
prepayments, and relievable on related parties. 

Provisions 

A provision is recognised when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is 
probable (i.e. more likely than not) that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and the amount 
can be reliably estimated. Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best 
estimate. Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the 
obligation. 
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Financial liabilities 

All liabilities are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration received net of transaction and issue 
costs associated with the borrowing. After initial recognition, interests-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Any difference between the consideration received net 
of transaction and issue costs associated with the borrowing and the redemption value is recognised in the income 
statement over the term of the loan. 

Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities 

The Company does not apply hedge accounting according to IAS 39. Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on 
the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently re measured at fair value. Changes in the fair value of 
any derivative instruments are recognised immediately in the income statement within Other financial items.  

Taxation 

Tax accounted for considers both taxes payable for the period and the movement in deferred tax. 

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all temporary differences and accumulated tax losses carried forward at the 
balance sheet date which implies increased or decreased taxes payable when these differences reverse in future 
periods. Temporary differences are differences between taxable profits and results that occur and are recorded in the 
balance sheet when it is more likely than not that the tax assets will be utilised. 

Deferred tax is calculated by applying the nominal tax rate to temporary differences and accumulated tax losses carried 
forward. 

Cash flow statement 

The cash flow statement is presented using the indirect method. The cash flow statement analyses the Company’s 
overall cash flow by operating, investment and financing activities. The statement shows the effect of operations on liquid 
asset balances. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within 
borrowings in current liabilities on the balance sheet. 

Contingent liabilities 

Contingent liabilities should be accrued and charged to income if it is likely (more likely than 50%) and it is possible to 
make a reasonable estimate. A contingent liability is calculated based on the best estimate of future cash flows, using 
present value if the discounted effect is significant. Contingent losses that are less than likely to arise, or are not 
reasonably estimable, are disclosed in the financial statements if material. Contingent gains are not recognised. 

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions 

Preparation of the financial statements in accordance with “simplified” IFRS requires management to make judgments, 
use estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. 

The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are 
considered to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. 

Estimates and assumptions which represent a significant risk for material adjustments in carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year, are presented below. 

Deferred tax asset 

Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against 
which the assets can be utilised. When assessing the deferred tax asset at year end the management has taken into 
consideration relevant tax planning strategies, including the possibilities of group contributions. 

Shares in subsidiaries 

Investments in subsidiaries are recognised at cost including transaction costs, less any necessary impairment. 
Impairment to recoverable amount will be carried out if impairment indicators are present and recoverable amount is 
lower than book value. Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value and value in use. The calculation of recoverable 
amount will require management to estimate future discounted cash flows from the subsidiaries’ operations. These cash 
flows could be impacted by changes in market conditions where the subsidiaries carry out their business. Accordingly, 
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significant and lasting changes in market conditions related to increases in production costs or lower market prices for 
products sold by the subsidiaries could lead to an impairment of shares in subsidiaries.  

Receivables from subsidiaries 

Receivables from subsidiaries are initially recognised at fair value plus any transaction costs. The receivables are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, if the amortisation effect is material, less 
provision for impairment. An impairment of receivables from subsidiaries will be carried out if there is objective evidence 
that the value of the receivables is lower than cost. The calculation of fair value will require management to assess the 
subsidiaries’ ability to repay the receivables. Such assessments may include estimating future cash flows from the 
subsidiaries’ operations. These cash flows could be impacted by changes in market conditions where the subsidiaries 
carry out their business. Accordingly, significant and prolonged adverse market conditions related for example to 
increases in production costs or lower market prices for products sold by the subsidiaries could lead to an impairment of 
receivables from subsidiaries.  
 

Note 2: Wages and other personnel expenses 
The company did not have any employees in 2014 or 2013. 
 
 

Note 3: Other operating expenses 
Other operating expenses of NOK 1.2 million in 2014 relates to the administration of the company. 

Fees to auditors  

See note 10 to the consolidated financial statements for further details related to expensed fees to the company’s 
auditor. 
 
 

Note 4: Financial income and expenses 

 
 
 

Note 5: Taxation 
 

 

 

NOK million 2014 2013

Interest on interest-bearing receivables Group companies 7.5                    7.7                    

Total financial income 7.5                    7.7                    

Interest expense on interest-bearing liabilities Group companies (10.3)                 (7.7)                   

Interest expense on Senior notes (115.0)                (19.2)                 

Amortised fee on Senior notes (3.3)                   (0.5)                   

Other financial expense (0.2)                   (0.1)                   

Total financial expense (128.7)                (27.5)                 

Specification of income tax expense:

NOK million 2014 2013

Current taxes -                        -                        

Deferred taxes 33.1                  5.4                    

Income tax income (expense) 33.1                  5.4                    

Reconciliation from nominal to real income tax rate:

NOK million 2014 2013

Profit (loss) before taxes (122.5)                (19.8)                 

Income tax expense at corporate income tax rate in Norway (27% in 2014, 28% in 2013) 33.1                  5.6                    

Effect of changes in tax rate -                        (0.2)                   

Income tax income (expense) 33.1                  5.4                    

Effective tax rate 27.0 % 27.0 %
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The deferred tax benefit is included in the balance sheet on the basis of future income. The company is part of a tax 
group and is available to receive group contribution that will create taxable profit in appropriate periods. 

 

Note 6: Investments in subsidiaries 
 

 
 
See note 5 to the consolidated financial statements for list of group companies owned through ownership in the 
subsidiary. 

 
 
On October 22, 2014, an extraordinary general meeting in EWOS Holding AS resolved a distribution to the shareholder 
EWOS Group AS of NOK 169.2 million. The distribution was charged EWOS Holding AS’ share premium and the 
repayment was in its entirety repayment of paid-in capital. Carrying amount of Investments in subsidiaries was 
decreased with the same amount. 

Management’s assessment is that there are no significant changes in market conditions related to increases in 
production costs or lower market prices for products sold by the subsidiaries that could lead to an impairment of shares 
in subsidiaries. See also note 14 to the consolidated financial statements for testing of impairment. 
 
 

Note 7: Cash and cash equivalents 
 
The company does not have any restricted funds. 
 
 

Note 8: Non-current interest bearing receivables and liabilities to Parent 
and Group companies 
 
EWOS Group AS was in October 2013 granted a subordinated and unsecured loan of NOK 370.5 million from Albain 
Holdco Norway AS, the parent company. This loan, which accrued an interest rate of 12.0% per annum, was presented 
as Non-current interest bearing liabilities Group companies as of December 31, 2013. The loan and accrued interest was 
converted to equity March 4, 2014.  

EWOS Group AS granted in 2013 a loan of NOK 370.5 million to its subsidiary EWOS Holding AS on the same terms. 
This receivable was presented as Non-current interest bearing receivables to Group companies as of December 31, 
2013. The receivable and accrued interest was converted to equity March 4, 2014, and added to carrying amount of the 
investments in subsidiaries. 

Specification of the tax effect of temporary differences and losses carried forward:

NOK million 2014 2013

Accrued expenses on notes 8.1                    9.1                    

Unused tax losses (46.5)                 (14.5)                 

Calculated net deferred tax liabilities (assets) (38.4)                 (5.4)                   

Unrecognised deferred tax assets -                        -                        

Net deferred tax liabilities (assets) recognised (38.4)                 (5.4)                   

Changes in net deferred taxes:

NOK million 2014 2013

As of January 1 / June 24 (5.4)                   -                        

Recognised in the income statement (33.1)                 (5.4)                   

As of December 31 (38.4)                 (5.4)                   

Company name Acquisition date Location Share ownership Voting rights

Subsidiaries:

EWOS Holding AS (earlier Albain Bidco Norway AS) 31.10.2013 Bergen 100 % 100 %

Share capital Number of 

Carrying 

amount Equity Net profit 2014

Company name NOK million shares NOK million NOK million NOK million

Subsidiaries:

EWOS Holding AS (earlier Albain Bidco Norway AS) 369.0             265,523,069    2,835.5           2,573.7           (204.6)            
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Note 9: Guarantees 
 
As a part of the Group, all entities are subject to restrictions under the Super Senior Revolving Credit Facilities, and as 
general rule they are not allowed to provide financial support to unrelated parties (including granting loans or issuing 
guarantees). All material entities in the Group have provided unconditional guarantees for any liability arising under the 
Super Senior Revolving Credit Facilities and bond agreements. The Super Senior Revolving Credit Facilities and bond 
agreements also contain negative pledge clauses that limit the ability of the EWOS companies to allow security on their 
assets.   
 

Note 10: Share capital and shareholder information 
 
The share capital in the company at December 31, 2014 consists of the following:

 

Shareholders as at December 31, 2014:

 

 

Note 11: Interest bearing non-current liabilities external 

 
 
On October 31, 2013, EWOS Group AS issued NOK 1,040 million Senior Subordinated Notes due November 1, 2021. 
Interest accrues at a rate per annum equal to three month NIBOR plus 9.20%. The Senior Subordinated Notes are 
redeemable November 1, 2016. Prior to this date, the notes can be redeemed by paying a premium. The Company’s 
Interest bearing debt is classified as financial liabilities measured at amortised cost adjusted for up front arrangement 
and legal fees.  
 

Note 12: Financial risk management 
 
See note 22 to the consolidated financial statements for details related to financial risk management. 
 
 

Note 13: Current interest bearing liabilities to Group companies 
 
EWOS Group AS has during 2014 entered into a short term credit facility with subsidiary company EWOS Holding AS. 
 

Note 14: Transactions with related parties 
 
EWOS Group AS has various transactions with related parties. All the transactions have been carried out as part of the 
ordinary operations and at arms-length prices. The most significant transactions are related to intercompany loans and 
receivables, see note 8 and 13. 
 
 

Note 15: Events after the reporting period 
 
See note 31 to the consolidated financial statements for details related to subsequent events.  

Number of shares Nominal amount

NOK  million               

Carrying value

Ordinary shares 164,282,269                      1.690572533                     277.7                               

Shares Ownership interest Voting rights

Albain Holdco  Norway AS 164,282,269                      100.0 % 100.0 %

NOK million as of December 31, 2014 Currency

Principal 

amount

Repayment 

period Interest

Amortised 

fee and 

currency 

adjustments

Carrying 

amount

Senior Subordinated Notes NOK 1,040.0       7 years 10.78 % (30.1)           1,009.9       

Total Interest bearing non-current liabilities external 1,009.9       

NOK million as of December 31, 2013 Currency

Principal 

amount

Repayment 

period Interest

Amortised 

fee and 

currency 

adjustments

Carrying 

amount

Senior Subordinated Notes NOK 1,040.0       8 years 10.90 % (33.7)           1,006.3       

Total Interest bearing non-current liabilities external 1,006.3       
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RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT 

 
We confirm, to the best of our knowledge that the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 
2014 have been prepared in accordance with current applicable account standards and give a true and fair 
view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and net income of the entity and the Group taken as a whole.  
 
We also confirm that the management report includes a true and fair review of the development and 
performance of the business and the position of the Company and the Group, together with a description of 
the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Company and the Group. 
 
 

Oslo, April 22, 2015 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Hugo Lund Maurstad 
Chairman of the Board 

(sign.) 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Stuart J. A. Gent 
Director 
(sign.) 

 
 
 
 

Edward John Han 
Director 
(sign.) 

 
 
 
 

Klas Erik Johansson 
Director 
(sign.) 

 
 
 
 

Yngve Myhre 
Director 
(sign.) 

 
 
 
 

Dwight Mac Vicar Poler 
Director 
(sign.) 

 
 
 
 

Eivind Kristofer Reiten 
Director 
(sign.) 

 
 
 
 

Dean Zuzic 
Director 
(sign.) 

 

 
 
 
 

Einar Wathne 
Chief Executive Officer 

(sign.)  
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AUDITORôS REPORT 2014 
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